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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting (“48th AGM”) of the Company will be held at the 

Conference Room of the Company at Lot 10449, Jalan Nenas, Batu 4½, Kampung Jawa, 41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan on 
Friday, 8 September 2023 at 9:00 a.m. for the following purposes  

 
A G E N D A 

As Ordinary Business 
 

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 together with the 

Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon. 

 
2. To approve the payment of Directors‟ fees and benefits to the Non-Executive Directors of the 

Company from the conclusion of the 48th AGM up till the conclusion of the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company to be held in 2024. 

 
3. To  re-elect Mr. Ng Chin Huat who retires pursuant to Clause 118  of the Company‟s Constitution. 
 
4. To  re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 117 of the Company‟s 

Constitution:- 
 
(a) Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan 
(b) Lee Siok Yee 
(c) Collin Tan Chin Yew 

  
5. To re-appoint Messrs. Reanda LLKG International as Auditors of the Company and to authorise 

the Directors to fix their  remuneration.  
 

As Special Business 

 
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary and special resolutions, with or without 
modifications:- 

 
6. SPECIAL RESOLUTION  
  WAIVER OF PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS UNDER SECTION 85 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016  

 

 “THAT the shareholders of the Company do hereby waive their statutory pre-emptive rights to 

be offered new shares ranking equally to the existing issued shares of the Company under 
Section 85 of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”), read together with Clause 14 of the 
Constitution of the Company.  

 
 THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to issue any new shares (including rights or 

options over subscription of such shares) and with such preferred, deferred, or other special 
rights or such restrictions, whether with regard to dividend, voting, return of capital, or otherwise, 
for such consideration and to any person as the Directors may determine subject to passing the 
Ordinary Resolution (Authority to Issue and Allot Shares of the Company pursuant to Sections 
75 and 76 of the Act.).” 

 
7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1 

AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO THE COMPANIES ACT 2016 

 
“THAT subject to the Companies  Act 2016 (“the Act”), the Constitution of the Company, the Main 

Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and the approvals of the 

relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, where such approval is necessary, the 

Directors be and are hereby empowered  pursuant to the Act, to allot and  issue shares in the capital 

of the Company to such persons at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such 

purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate 

number of  shares to be issued  pursuant to this resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of 

the total number of issued shares of  the Company for the time being; AND THAT the Directors be 

and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional 

shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad; and that such authority shall commence 

immediately upon the passing of this resolution and shall continue to be in force until the conclusion 

of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”  

(Please refer to 

Explanatory Note 1) 

 
(Resolution 1) 

 
 

 
(Resolution 2) 

 
 
 
 
(Resolution 3) 
(Resolution 4) 
(Resolution 5) 

 
(Resolution 6) 

 
 
 
 

          
 
 
(Resolution 7) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Resolution 8) 
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8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2 

PROPOSED  NEW SHAREHOLDERS‟ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY 

TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (“PROPOSED RENEWAL OF 

EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS‟ MANDATE”) 

 
“THAT subject to the provisions of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 

Securities Berhad, approval  be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries (“Asia 

Brands  Group”)  to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature 

with the Related Parties as specified in Part A, Section 2.3 of the Circular/Statement to 

Shareholders dated 31 July 2023, which are necessary for the day-to-day operations of Asia Brands 

Group to be entered into by Asia Brands Group provided that such transactions are in the ordinary 

course of business and are on terms not more favourable to the Related Parties than those 

generally available to the public and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the 

Company.” 

 

THAT such authority shall commence upon the passing of this resolution and continue to be in force 

until: 

 

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following the 

forthcoming AGM at which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at a general 

meeting, the authority is renewed; or 

 

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held pursuant to 

Section 340(2) of Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) (but shall not extend to such extension as 

may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or 

 

(iii) it is revoked or varied by resolution  passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 

meeting, whichever is the earlier; 

 

“AND THAT the Board of Directors of the Company and/or any one of them be and are hereby 

authorised to complete and to do all such acts and things including executing such documents as 

may be required to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this resolution.” 

 

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 

PROPOSED  RENEWAL OF EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS‟ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (“PROPOSED 

RENEWAL OF EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS‟ MANDATE”) 

 
“THAT subject to the provisions of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 

Securities Berhad, approval  be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiaries (“Asia 

Brands  Group”)  to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature 

with the Related Parties as specified in Part B, Section 2.3 of the Circular/Statement to 

Shareholders dated 31 July 2023, which are necessary for the day-to-day operations of Asia Brands 

Group to be entered into by Asia Brands Group provided that such transactions are in the ordinary 

course of business and are on terms not more favourable to the Related Parties than those 

generally available to the public and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the 

Company.” 

 

THAT such authority shall commence upon the passing of this resolution and continue to be in force 

until: 

 

(i)    the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following the   

       forthcoming AGM at which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at a general    

       meeting, the authority is renewed; or 

 

(ii)    the expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held pursuant to 

      Section 340(2) of Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) (but shall not extend to such extension as  

      may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or 

 

(iii)   it is revoked or varied by resolution  passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 

      meeting, whichever is the earlier; 

 

           “AND THAT the Board of Directors of the Company and/or any one of them be and are hereby     

   authorised to complete and to do all such acts and things including executing such documents as 
   may be required to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this      
   resolution.” 

 

 (Resolution 9) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
                       

(Resolution 10) 
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11. To transact any other ordinary business for which due notice shall have been given. 
 
 
By Order of the Board 

 
MAK CHOOI PENG 

(MAICSA 7017931) 

(SSM PC No. 201908000889) 

Company Secretary 

 
Klang            
31 July 2023 
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Notes: 

 
1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 30 August 2023 (“General Meeting 

Record of Depositors”) shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this Meeting. 

 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of him. A 

proxy appointed to attend and vote at this Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. 

 

3. A member may appoint more than one (1) proxy to attend at the same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy to 

attend and vote at the same meeting, such appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholdings to be 

represented by each proxy. 

 

4. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depository) Act, 1991, it may appoint at 

least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said 

securities account. 

 

5. Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depository) Act, 1991 which holds 

ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the 

number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. 

 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such 

appointor be a corporation, under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney of the corporation duly authorised. 

 

7. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any), under which it is signed or a notarially certified 

copy of that power of attorney or authority, shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Lot 10449, Jalan Nenas, Batu 

4½, Kampung Jawa, 41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the 

Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

 

 

Explanatory Notes: - 

 

1. Item 1 of the Agenda 

 
This Agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 does not 

require a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda item is not put 

forward for voting. 

 
2. Resolution 1 – Payment of Directors‟ fees and benefit 

 
The Company is seeking shareholders‟ approval for the payment of Non-Executive Directors‟ fees and benefits of up to 

RM360,000/- with effect from the conclusion of the 48th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) until the conclusion of the next 

AGM of the Company in 2024 pursuant to Section 230(1) of the Act. 

 
 Non-Executive Directors of the Company are entitled to annual Directors‟ fees based on the following remuneration      
structure adopted by the Company: 
 

             
 
 
 In the event that the proposed Directors‟ fees and benefits are insufficient, approval will be sought at the next AGM for  
 additional Directors‟ fees and benefits to meet the shortfall. 
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3. Resolutions 2 to 5 – Re-election of Directors 

 
Mr. Ng Chin Huat, Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan, Ms. Lee Siok Yee and Mr. Collin Tan Chin Yew (“the retiring Directors”) are 

standing for re-election as Directors of the Company. 

 

For the purpose of determining the eligibility of the retiring Directors to stand for re-election at the 48th AGM, the Board, 

through its Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) had assessed the retiring Directors, and considered the 

following:  

(i)  performance and contribution based on the Self-Assessment (“SA”) results;  

(ii) level of contribution to the Board and deliberations through their skills, experience and strength in qualities; and  

(iii) level of objectivity, impartiality and his ability to act in the best interest of the Company.  

 

The retiring Directors met the performance criteria required of an effective and a high-performance Board based on the 

Directors‟ SA results. 

 

The NRC and Board of Directors of the Company (“the Board”) have considered the results of the assessment conducted 
on the retiring Directors and collectively satisfied that they meet the criteria of character, experience, integrity, competence 
and time required to effectively discharge their role as Directors, as prescribed by Paragraph 2.20A of the Main Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Board accepted the NRC‟s recommendation that the retiring 
Directors are eligible to stand for re-election. The retiring Directors had abstained from deliberations and decisions on their 
own eligibility and suitability to stand for re-election at the relevant Board meetings. The retiring Directors referred to in 
Resolutions 2 to 5 will abstain from voting on the resolution in respect of their respective re-election at the 48th AGM. 

 
4. Resolution  6  –  Re-appointment of auditors 

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) had undertaken an annual assessment of the suitability and 

effectiveness of the external audit process, performance, suitability and independence of the external auditors, Reanda 

LLKG International (“Reanda”) as prescribed under the Paragraph 15.21 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of 

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The ARMC was satisfied with the suitability of Reanda based on the quality of audit, 

performance, competency and sufficiency of resources the external audit team provided to the Asia Brands Group. The 

ARMC was also satisfied in its review that the provisions of non-audit services by Reanda during the period under review 

did not impair Reanda‟s objectivity and independence. The Board had accepted the ARMC‟s recommendation for 

shareholders‟ approval to be sought at the 48th AGM on the re-appointment of Reanda as external auditors of the 

Company for the financial year ending 31 March 2023, under Resolution 6. The present external auditors, Reanda, have 

indicated their willingness to continue their services for the next financial year. 

 
5. Special Resolution – Waiver of Pre-emptive rights 

 
The Special Resolution is pertaining to the waiver of pre-emptive rights granted to the shareholders under Section 85 of 

the Companies Act 2016 and Clause 14 of the Company‟s Constitution. By voting in favour of the Special Resolution, the 

shareholders of the Company would be waiving their statutory pre-emptive right. The Special Resolution if passed, would 

allow the Directors to issue new shares to any person under the general mandate obtained without having to offer the new 

Company shares to be issued equally to all existing shareholders of the Company prior to issuance. 

 
6. Ordinary Resolution 1  -  Authority to issue and allot shares 

 
The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1 is for the purpose of seeking renewal for the general mandate to empower the 

Directors of the Company pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016, from the date of the 48th AGM of 

the Company, to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time to such persons in their absolute discretion without 

convening a general meeting provided that the aggregate number of the shares issued does not exceed ten percent 

(10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being. The general mandate, unless revoked or 

varied at general meeting, will expire at the next AGM of the Company.  

 
The general mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited 

to placement of shares for the purpose of funding future investment(s), project(s), working capital and/or acquisition(s). 

 

As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the general mandate granted to the 

Directors at the Forty-Seventh AGM of the Company held on 29 August 2022, which will lapse at the conclusion of the 

48th AGM of the Company. Hence, no proceeds were raised therefrom. 
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7. Ordinary Resolution 2 and Ordinary Resolution 3 – Proposed new and renewal of shareholders„ mandate 

 
This proposed Ordinary Resolution 2 and Ordinary Resolution 3, if passed, will enable the Company and its subsidiaries 

to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading in nature with related parties in the ordinary 

course of business which are necessary for the day-to-day operations of Asia Brands Group, based on commercial terms 

which are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public and are not detriment to 

the minority shareholders of the Company. 

 
Please refer to Part A and Part B of the Circular/Statement to Shareholders dated 31 July 2023 circulated together with 

this Annual Report for further information. 

 
8. Ordinary Resolution 4  -  Proposed Share Buy back  

 
The proposed resolution, if passed, will empower the Directors to purchase the Company‟s shares up to ten percent (10%) 
of the total number of issued shares of the Company by utilising the retained profits of the Company. This authority will, 
unless revoked or varied by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next 
AGM. 
 

Please refer to Part C of the Circular/Statement to Shareholders dated 31 July 2023 circulated together with this Annual 

Report for further information.
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Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh (Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman) 

Male, aged 67, Malaysian, is the Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh was 

appointed to the Board on 11 April 2018. He graduated from the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants and holds a 

Master‟s Degree in Business Administration. He is the founder and Managing Director of Siang Poh Group of Companies, a 

vertically integrated textile group involved in the manufacturing and distribution of textile and apparels for more than 30 years. 

 
Dato‟ Sri Tan is a substantial shareholder of the Company by virtue of his direct interest in Trackland Sdn. Bhd., a substantial 

shareholder of the Company pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016. He is the father of David Tan Chin Wee, who is 

his Alternate Director and a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, and Collin Tan Chin Yew, a Non-Independent Non-

Executive Director of the Company. Dato‟ Sri Tan does not hold directorships in other public companies and listed companies. 

He currently holds directorships in certain subsidiary companies of Asia Brands Berhad. Dato‟ Sri Tan does not have any 

conflict of interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic 

offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies. 

 
Dato‟ Sri Tan attended all four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023. 

 

Ng Chin Huat (Group Managing Director) 

Male, aged 53, Malaysian, is the Group Managing Director of the Company. Mr. Ng was appointed to the Board on 1 March 

2011. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Actuarial) degree from the University of Melbourne, Australia. Upon graduation in 

1991, he worked as an Actuarial trainee in Prudential Singapore for two (2) years. Thereafter, he moved into the stock-broking 

industry in 1993, gaining employment with HLG Securities, Malaysia. Mr. Ng joined Audrey International (M) Berhad in 1999 as 

an Executive Director and was subsequently promoted to Group Managing Director in 2002. In 2010, Mr. Ng assumed the role 

of the Group Chairman of the same company, and in 2018, Mr. Ng assumed the current position. 

 
Apart from the above, Mr. Ng does not hold directorships in other public companies and listed companies but holds directorships 

in several other private limited companies. Mr. Ng is an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company by virtue of his and his 

spouse, Madam Yap Su P‟ing‟s direct interest in Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd., a substantial shareholder of the Company, 

pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016. Mr. Ng is also related to Ng Tiong Seng Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (“NTSC”), a 

substantial shareholder of the Company, by virtue of NTSC being a family-owned company. Mr. Ng has no conflict of interest 

with the Company and neither has he been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if 

any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies. 

 
Mr. Ng attended all four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023. 

 

Lee Siok Yee (Independent Non-Executive Director) 

 

Female, aged 53, Malaysian, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Ms. Lee is the Chairperson of the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee, and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Ms. Lee was 

appointed to the Board on 29 August 2022. She graduated with a Bachelor of Business, major in Finance and Economics from 

the University of Technology, Sydney, Australia in 1992. 

  

Subsequently, she held various key positions in financial institutions involving structured financing, venture capital and private 

equity investments in Asia Pacific region. In 2010, she was the Head of Private Equity with RHB Investment Bank Berhad before 

her current role as Senior Vice President with Cope Private Equity Sdn Bhd since 2019.  

 

Ms. Lee does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder nor any conflict of interest with the 

Company. She does not hold any shares in the Company and its subsidiary companies. She has not been convicted of any 

offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the 

relevant regulatory bodies. 

 

Ms. Lee attended three (3) out of the four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 since her 
appointment. 
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Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan (Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Male, aged 64, Malaysian, is the Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Dato‟ Dr. Lim is the Chairman of the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. Dato‟ Dr. Lim was 

appointed to the Board on 29 August 2022. He graduated with a Bachelor of Law from University of London (1988), Certificate in 

Legal Practice (1990), Masters of Business Administration from University of Hull (1995) and attained Doctor of Business 

Administration from University of South Australia (2005).  

He had held key positions dealing with Human Resource matters in companies such as HLG Capital Bhd in 1996, Frazer & 

Neave Holdings Bhd in 2000, HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad in 2003 and Tan Chong Group in 2010 before retiring in 2020. Dato‟ 

Dr. Lim does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder nor any conflict of interest with the 

Company. He does not hold any shares in the Company and its subsidiary companies. He has not been convicted of any offence 

within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant 

regulatory bodies. 

 

Dato‟ Dr. Lim attended three (3) out of four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 since his 
appointment. 

 

Kong Sau Kian (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Male, aged 59, Malaysian, is the Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Kong is a member of the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee. He was appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. He is a member of the Malaysian Institute 

of Accountants, graduated with a Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) degree from the University of Malaya in 1988. 

Subsequently, he joined KPMG Peat Marwick, an international accounting firm, until 1992 where his exposure include audit of a 

wide range of industries, corporate restructuring, acquisition audit and other special assignments. 

 
Mr. Kong also sits on the board of LBI Capital Berhad, a company listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities 

Berhad, as an Executive Director. He also holds directorships in several other private limited companies. Mr. Kong does not 

have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder nor have any conflict of interest with the Company and 

does not hold any shares in the Company and its subsidiary companies. He has not been convicted of any offence within the 

past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory 

bodies. 

 
Mr. Kong attended all four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023.  

 

Collin Tan Chin Yew (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) 

Male, aged 33, Malaysian, is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Tan is the son of Dato' Sri Tan 
Thian Poh, the Chairman and major shareholder of Asia Brands Berhad. He was appointed to the Board on 29 August 2022. 

Mr. Tan graduated from the London School of Economics and Political Sciences with a Bachelor‟s degree in Actuarial Science. In 
2012, he was Trainee Operations Manager at Hing Yiap Knitting Sdn Bhd. and subsequently in 2013, he was a Research Analyst 
in Public Mutual Berhad prior to his current position as Executive Director for B.U.M. Marketing (M) Sdn Bhd since 2016. Mr. Tan 
does not hold directorships in other public companies. Mr. Tan has no conflict of interest with the Company and neither has he 
been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or 
penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies. 

Mr. Tan attended three (3) out of four (4) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 since his 
appointment. 

 

David Tan Chin Wee (Alternate Director, Non-Independent Non-Executive) 

Male, aged 31, Malaysian, is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Tan is the Alternate Director to his 

father, Dato‟Sri Tan Thian Poh who is the Chairman of the Company. 

 
Mr. Tan was appointed on 30 April 2018. He graduated from the City University, London, United Kingdom, with a Bachelor‟s degree 

in Actuarial Science and a Master‟s degree in Finance from the Cass Business School, United Kingdom. Mr. Tan does not hold 

directorships in other public companies. Mr. Tan has no conflict of interest with the Company and neither has he been convicted of 

any offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the 

relevant regulatory bodies. 
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Lee Yean Fung (Group Chief Executive Officer) 

Female, aged 53, Malaysian, joined the Group in October 1997 as Marketing Executive and was promoted to various leadership 

roles throughout the years. She was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of B.U.M. Marketing (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd in 2013, 

before assuming her current role in November 2014. Ms. Lee was appointed as the Group Chief Executive Officer under the 

principal subsidiary companies, namely, Anakku Sdn. Bhd. and Audrey Sdn. Bhd. on 1 April 2022 as successor to Mr. Cheah 

Yong Hock, who has retired. 

 
Ms Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Business Administration from the University of Central Oklahoma, USA. Ms Lee has been 

involved in the lingerie industry for the past 15 years covering various roles including sales operations, trade marketing, retail 

and procurement. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Lee was attached to General Label & Labelling Malaysia, a company involved 

in printing and labelling industry. 

 
Ms Lee does not hold directorships in public companies and listed companies. She currently holds directorships in the 

subsidiary companies of Asia Brands Berhad. Ms. Lee does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major 

shareholder nor have any conflict of interest with the Company. She has not been convicted of any offence within the past five 

(5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies.  

 

Daniel Kok Tai Meng (Chief Financial Officer) 

Male, aged 56, Malaysian, joined the Group in February 2009 as Senior Finance Manager and was promoted to his current 
position in 2011. 

 
Mr Kok is a fellow-member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom, and also a member of the 

Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is responsible for the Group‟s overall financial health and position as well as providing 

key analysis to drive value added decision making to the Group‟s corporate strategies. Mr Kok started his career as an auditor 

with Lim, Cheh and Chang Public Accountants. He later joined L‟Oreal Malaysia Sdn Bhd where he gained exposure in finance, 

business operations and controlling. Subsequently, he joined F&N Coca Cola Sdn Bhd overlooking commercial controls for 

Modern Trade Division. 

 
Mr Kok does not hold directorships in public companies and listed companies. He currently holds directorships in the subsidiary 

companies of Asia Brands Berhad. Mr Kok does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder nor 

have any conflict of interest with the Company. He has not been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other 

than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies.  

 

Ng Meng Guan (Chief Commercial Officer) 

 

Male, aged 42, Malaysian, joined the Group in November 2014 as National Sales Manager. He was promoted to General 

Manager of Anakku Sdn Bhd in 2017, before assuming his current role. Mr. Ng was appointed as the Chief Commercial Officer 

under the principal subsidiary company, namely, Anakku Sdn. Bhd. on August 2022. 

 

Mr. Ng graduated with a Bachelor of Business Studies and Administration from the Campbell University, USA in 2004 and 

attained Master of Business Administration (International) from Swinburne University of Technology, Malaysia in 2021.  Mr. Ng 

has been involved in the retail industry for the past 19 years covering various roles including sales operations, trade marketing 

and retail operation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ng was attached to Kinderdijk Sdn Bhd, a company involved in marketing 

and distribution of baby products. 

 

Mr. Ng does not hold directorships in public companies. He has no conflict of interest with the Company and neither has he 

been convicted of any offence within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any, as well as any public sanction or 

penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies. 
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RM‟000 2019*** 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Revenue 175,605* 187,614* 170,217 162,230** 184,554**  

Net (Loss)/Profit attributable to 
owners of the Company  5,336 8,513 16,217 15,604 12,099 

Paid-up Share Capital 

(number of shares) 

232,648 232,648 232,648 232,648 232,648 

Shareholders‟ Funds 189,492 198,006 214,223 227,500 234,946 

      

Per share 2019*** 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Basic Earnings/(Loss) (sen) 3.75 3.66 6.97 6.71 5.20 

Gross Dividend (sen) – – 1 1 2 

Net Assets (RM) 0.82 0.85 0.92 0.98 1.01 

   

                      
                   

                  

* Revenue for the financial year 2020 and 2019 have been restated to adjust for understatement of revenue due to 

recognition of commission of concessionaire sales as a sales and distribution expense. 

** Revenue for the financial year 2023 and 2022 have been restated to adjust for overstatement of revenue due to 

recognition of commission income of third party concessionaire sales as revenue and cost of sales. 

*** During the financial year, the Company issued of 116,323,800 units of ordinary shares on 09/01/2019 
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Dear Shareholders, 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present to you the Annual 

Report and Audited Financial Statements of Asia Brands Berhad for the financial 

year ended (FYE) 31 March 2023. 

 

Corporate Development 

 
We are pleased to inform that the Group recorded a profit before tax of RM16.2 million in FYE 31 March 2023 compared to RM 

20.8 million in FYE 31 March 2022, a drop of 21.9% in its profit before tax  due to the increase in minimum wage and initial 

setting up cost incurred as a result of the change of our business model in East Malaysia during the financial year. 

 
 

Industry Outlook 

 
The industry is facing a very challenging business environment in view of the declining disposal income of the Rakyat due to 
inflation and the increasing interest rates. The weakening of the Ringgit is driving the cost of products higher as we struggle to 
cope with the increase in minimum wage. 
 
The Group remains cautiously optimistic in delivering value to shareholders in spite of the challenging business environment 
caused by the prolonged Russian-Ukraine war and anticipated global recession. The Group maintained healthy cash and cash 
equivalents which stood at RM13.9 million during the year under review. We will continue to seek opportunities to drive our 
business forward with a more diversified range of products by leveraging on our strong brand names that was built over the years. 
We continue to seek ways to further improve our profitability by increasing our productivity and improving existing business 
models in which we have started by directly distributing our products in East Malaysia. We will continue to pursue value creation 
for shareholders and growth strategies on all business segments, present and future, of the Group. 

 
 

Dividend 

 
The Company paid a final dividend of RM 0.01 for every share on 15 June 2023 prior to the forthcoming Forty-Eighth Annual 
General Meeting. The Company also paid an interim dividend of RM0.01 per share on 21 December 2022. Total dividend paid for 
FYE 31 March 2023 amounted to RM0.02 per share. 
 
 
Board Commitment 

 
The Board continues to uphold and implement high standards of corporate governance and corporate social responsibility 

across the Group. Details of the corporate governance disclosure and activities of corporate social responsibility are disclosed in 

the relevant sections of the annual report. 

 

We value the diverse mix of skills, experience, knowledge and competencies of the Board and will continue to drive better 

performances for the Group. 

 
 

Acknowledgment and Appreciation 

 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone involved for their contributions toward the satisfactory performance of our 
Group during the past year and we will strive harder to achieve higher goals in the coming year. My appreciation extends to my 
fellow Directors, customers, business partners and suppliers, bankers, advisors and shareholders for their continuous support. 

 
 

 

 

 

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh 

Chairman 
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Business Overview 

 
For the year under review, the overall post-COVID economy recovered significantly with the country‟s private consumption 
growing at 14.2 per cent per annum for the year 2022. However, economic growth and consumer optimism were tempered by the 
Russia-Ukraine conflict which for a period of time led to a hike in commodity prices such as crude oil, palm oil and food. Post-
COVID recovery globally also saw a sudden increase in demand for container cargos which greatly affected transportation cost. 
The zero-COVID policy adopted in China also at one point caused major disruption in global supply chain which in turn, elevated 
cost of finished goods. In addition to this, Bank Negara Malaysia applied a series of rate hikes to keep capital outflow under 
control in order to cope with rising inflation. 
 
The Group was not spared in this period and had to face rising cost of goods and operational costs due to implementation of 
minimum wage schemes and higher cost of working capital, resulting in thinner overall profit margin. The Group continued with 
risk management strategy implemented in the previous year as follows: 

 
• Supply chain continuity  –   working closely with key suppliers to ensure undisrupted supply chain 

• Liquidity improvement  –   managing receivables and payables to ensure sufficient cash cover at all times 

• Cost containment  –   rigorous cost containment to cut down discretionary expenses 

 
To remain resilient and sustainable, we constantly review and assess these risks under our governance framework in order to 
sustain revenue and profit.  

 

 
Financial Review 

 
The Group recorded revenue of RM184.5 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (FYE 2023), which was RM22.3 

million or 13.7% higher than the revenue of RM162.2 million last year. Albeit cost pressures, we remain profitable with a profit 

before tax (PBT) of RM16.2 million compared to a PBT of RM20.8 million for the corresponding period last year. Profit after tax 

(PAT) is at RM12.1 million compared to a PAT of RM15.6 million in the last financial year, a drop of 22.3%. Deferred tax asset 

realized for FYE 2023 amounts to RM2.1 million. 

 

Earnings per share stood at 5.20 sen for FYE 2023 as compared to earnings per share of 6.71 sen in the previous year. The 

Group recorded an improved net asset per share of RM1.01 compared to RM0.98 in the last financial year.  

 

The Group recorded a closing inventory balance of RM74.5 million as compared to RM53.4 million last financial year 

representing an increase of RM21.1 million. The additional build-up in inventory was taken to prevent any unforeseen supply 

chain disruption as per our risk governance framework. 

 

 

                  
 

 
We are happy to note, during the financial year under review, the Group had retired its Islamic Medium Term Note (IMTN) by 

making early redemption of its remaining RM20 million IMTN via internal generated funds.                          
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22% 

78% 

24% 

76% 

 
 

Segmental Review 

 
The Group is principally engaged in the operation of retailing and distribution of baby apparels with related products and lingerie with 

related products. 

 
FYE 2023 FYE 2022 

 

 

■ Baby Products Division 

■ Lingerie Products Division 

 
 
 

Revenue (RM „000) 

Baby Products Division 
 

137,996 

FYE2023  
76% 

 
127,297 

FYE2022*  
78% 

Lingerie Products Division 44,584  24% 35,007  22% 

Total 182,580 
 

100% 162,304 
 

100% 

 

* Revenue for the financial year 2023 and 2022 have been restated to adjust for overstatement of revenue due to 

recognition of commission income of third party concessionaire sales as revenue and cost of sales. 

 

                                            

 
 

Profit before tax 

(RM‟000) 

FYE2023 

(RM‟000) 

FYE2022 

(RM‟000) 

Baby Products Division 8,080              16,329 

Lingerie Products Division 7,295 4,646 

Total 15,375 20,975 
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Baby Products Division 

 
For FYE 2023, revenue increased by 8.4% to RM138.0 million from RM127.3 million last year. However, the division registered a 

drop in PBT by 50.5% to RM8.1 million compared to RM16.3 million for the same period last financial year. The drop in earnings was 

attributed to the increased cost of goods, higher minimum wage and rising transportation cost. 

 

We have maintained the number of retail outlets and managed to open 145 more consignment counters during the year bringing a 

total of 376 consignment counters and 93 stand-alone outlets as at 31 March 2023. We expect the additional new consignment 

counters to have a material impact on revenue for the coming financial period.  

 

At the same time, this division continues to capitalize on opportunities to: 

• expand large format stores,   

• enhance the baby product range, 

• work with other well-known baby brands, and 

• activate more promotional fairs  

 

 

BABY PRODUCTS DIVISION Number of Stores 
 

consignment 

counters 

 
376 

stand-alone 

outlets 

 
85 

large format 

stores 

 
8 

 

The number of stores is as at 31 March 2023 
 

 
 

Lingerie Division 

 
For FYE2023, revenue increased by 27.4% to RM44.6 million compared to last financial year of RM35.0 million. Consequently, this 

division registered an increased PBT of 57.0% to RM7.3 million from RM4.6 million for the same period last financial year. The 

increase in earnings was attributed to rationalization of non-productive consignment counters and stand-alone outlets in the previous 

year. This division is also the biggest beneficiary from post-COVID business recovery as our earnings are back to pre-pandemic 

level. 

 
With this, the PBT margin further increased to 16.4% compared to 13.3% in the corresponding period last year. We also took the 

opportunity to refurbish some older outlets, which was in the plan much earlier but had to be put on hold due to the COVID-19 

outbreak. 

 
We closed 6 consignment counters and 1 stand-alone outlet this year in order to further rationalize our resources bringing in a total of 

134 consignment counters and 52 stand-alone outlets as at 31 March 2023. 

 

 

LINGERIE DIVISION Number of Stores 
 

consignment 

counters 

 
134 

stand-alone 

outlets 

 
52 

 

The number of stores is as at 31 March 2023 
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Risk Exposure and Mitigations 

 
The Group‟s major business operations are sales, distribution and retailing of consumer goods that are subject to the risks stated below. 

Changes in these conditions below may have material impact on the Group‟s operations, performance, financial condition and liquidity. 

 
a) General economic condition; 

b) Changes in law, by-laws and/or government policy which affect trade, retail and distribution industry; 

c) Changes by Bank Negara Malaysia and commercial banks on their credit policy and fluctuation of bank interest rates; 

d) Increases in minimum wages;  

e) Movement in purchases leading to increasing cost of goods 

 
The Management will constantly monitor changes in the above conditions and the subsequent impact to consumer market of our 

products. We will plan our product launches and promotions in accordance to such changes in the market and consumer sentiment.  

 
The Management, through analysis of performance of each outlet on a regular basis, identifies the saleable products of each outlet 

where emphasis is given to the importance of speed and the critical lead time in order to meet market demand and remain competitive. 

Communication in all areas of the business is vital so that an immediate remedy is introduced for any issue identified. 

 
The Management recognizes that poor supply chain management is a big risk to the survival of the Group. Besides maintaining a strong 
professional relationship with our existing suppliers, sourcing for new suppliers that are capable of meeting our requirements is equally 
important. This is a continuous effort by the Management where supplier performance is reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Significant effort and time were invested in e-commerce platforms and marketplaces to expand the sales channel to cater for the 

increasing trend of online shopping. The Management continuously reviews its digital marketing strategies to build brand 

awareness and to generate new leads for our businesses. 

 
 

Opportunities and Challenges 

 
Coming off a mixed performance in 2022, we expect growth in the coming year to range from soft to moderate at best. We 

expect to face further cost pressures due to rising inflation, increase in cost of production coupled with increase in labor and 

logistic costs. The Group remains cognizant to find solutions in overcoming these business sustainability challenges and to 

continue identifying new business opportunities. Despite a challenging economic climate going forward, we have good reasons 

to believe that our overall business strategy has worked in sustaining the Group‟s revenue and profitability.  

 
On a brighter note, supply chain disruption due to global pandemic lockdown is no longer an issue with the opening up of most 

countries especially China. The majority of our suppliers are already back to their optimum production capacity and this allows us 

to make better planning in terms of the production. Having said that, the past has taught us to always remain vigilant in facing all 

kinds of different challenges and the Group is prepared to be nimble and responsive to economic changes ahead. 

 

We expect baby and innerwear products to remain as essential items for consumers in their shopping list. We are cautiously 

optimistic with our expansion plan as a lot of new malls are coming into the market this year providing us with a lot of choices 

and attractive offers. Albeit the improved gearing, the Management remained focused in further improving cash flow and liquidity 

this year.  

 

Whilst our overall strategic direction remains unchanged, Management is adaptable and responsive in executing these strategies 

to cater to changing consumer and market sentiments. We will continue to leverage on our brand strength to build bigger market 

share by being relevant and innovative in our product offerings. 
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ABOUT THIS STATEMENT 

 
The Board of Directors of Asia Brands Berhad (“Board”) is aware and committed to integrate our social responsibilities into our 

business strategies  for  the  sustainable  growth  of  the  Group. As the Group  work  to  increase  stakeholders  value through 

our core business, it will not neglect our responsibilities and will strive for the betterment of our employees and the community. 

Our sustainability practices and preparation of this Sustainability Statement (“this Statement”) are guided by the Bursa Malaysia 

Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) Sustainability Reporting Guide and 

guidelines issued by the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards. 

 

This Statement focuses on our Group‟s sustainability practices focusing on the economic, environmental, and social impacts of 

our activities and initiatives in accordance with the GRI Standards, prioritizing our focus on reviewing our material issues and 

mapping out our route forward to embed sustainability throughout our business operations. This Statement covers the reporting 

period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”) and based on material topics that we have identified. Our focus for FY 

2023 was on reviewing our sustainability approaches which covers economic, environmental and communal other than 

governance. Our scope and boundaries cover all our entities and operations in Malaysia.  

 

This Statement contains certain forward-looking statements relating to future performance where such statements are premised 

on current assumptions and circumstances, which could change, hence they necessarily involve uncertainty. Various factors 

could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. 

 

MATERIALITY 

 
Materiality, in sustainability terms, is not limited to matters that may have a significant financial impact on our Group but also 

includes matters that  may have an effect on our ability to meet present and future needs. Our definition of materiality is drawn 

from the guidelines provided by Bursa Securities where material issues are defined as such if they reflect an organisation‟s 

significant economic, environment, and social impacts; or substantively influence the assessment and decisions of stakeholders. 

 
The materiality assessment will be used in the following ways: 

 
1. To identify the sustainability issues for the Group in terms of business value, risks and opportunities. 

2. To understand how sustainability and key business issues intersect.  

3. To plan future sustainability commitments and resource allocation  

4. To support the Group‟s engagement with external stakeholders 

 
The key stakeholder groups that have been identified includes our employees, shareholders, business partners, external interest 
groups and customers, to plan future sustainability commitments and resource allocation. Our goal is to understand and address 
the different needs of each group in order to build a sustainable and successful business. 

 

Stakeholder Group Key Areas of Concerns Addressing these Concerns 

Employees • Career Development 

• Compensation, welfare and benefits 

• Work-life balance 

• Value diversity and equal opportunity 

• Working environment quality and safety 

• Virtual Office / Flexi Hours 

• Staff Welfare Meetings 

• Talent Pool System 

• Staff Events and Functions 

• Provide skills development and training 

Community and Public • Quality products and services 

• Social Responsibility 

• Community development  

• Environment Awareness 

• Donations and sponsorship 

• Employee volunteerism 

• Local employment creation 

• Education on Product Usage 

Customers • Product Quality 

• Product Pricing 

• Service Satisfaction 

• Customer Appreciation 

• Responsible clothing design 

• Marketing Campaigns 

• Customer Focus Group 

• Customer Loyalty Program 

Suppliers • Procurement Process 

• Strategic Partnership 

• Suppliers‟ development 

• Payment Terms 

• Group procurement policy and system 

• Yearly supplier evaluation 

• Inspection to Supplier Factories 

• Supply chain management 

Investors and Shareholders 

 

 

• Business direction and prospects 

• Corporate governance 

• Company performance 

• Return on Investment 

• Announcements on Bursa Malaysia 

• Annual general meeting 

• Annual reports 

• Corporate website 

Government and Regulators • Regulatory compliance 

• Annual reporting and disclosure 

• Sustainability reporting 

• Attend  seminars 

• Support and Participation 
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE  

 

All matters related to sustainability in the Group are governed and managed across various levels in the organisation. We strive to 
maintain the standards of corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of our Group. Our Board has the ultimate 
responsibility and works together with the key senior management team to steer the Company‟s sustainability efforts and 
performance. 

In line with sustainability, we ensure that the sustainability efforts are embedded in the strategic direction of the Group by involving 
all the pertinent Heads of Group Departments. The Sustainability & ESG Committee („SESGC”) was established and led by 
members of the Board and comprises members across key departments and operational units in various working groups 
responsible for implementing the initiatives within the organisation. The SESGC is established to oversee the formulation, 
implementation and effective management of our sustainability matters in line with the strategies. The structure also encourages 
continuous improvement on the sustainability initiatives in the Group. The Group Managing Director provides regular updates to 
the Board on matters relating to key economic, environmental and social risks and opportunities concerning sustainability matters. 

 

The following policies serve to embed our commitment towards responsible corporate governance across our operations: 

             

The above policies are communicated to our employees on the Group‟s intranet/notice board to facilitate awareness, in addition to 
wider stakeholders including suppliers, contractors, business partners and associates on our corporate website. We require all 
employees to abide by these policies and our ethical standards as stipulated in our employee handbook as they deliver excellence 
for the Company. In encouraging high standards of honesty and integrity in decision-making and behaviour, we encourage 
employees to consider the ethical implications and all other aspects of our ethics programme before giving and receiving gifts, in 
their dealings with third parties such as stakeholders, partners, vendors, and the general public. 

 

EMPLOYEE 

 
The Group recognises that employees are important asset. The Group shall continue to care for the welfare of all  its employees 

and shall constantly upgrade the employees‟ skills to meet changing requirements. Constant education and guidance are given 

to all employees to ensure high level of job satisfaction at all levels. The investment in employee professional development is 

crucial to enhance overall performances. The Group strives to maintain a safe and healthy working environment for all the 

employees. Medical and hospitalisation insurance are subscribed annually to cover employees‟ health screening and medical 

needs. 

 
The Group adheres to local labour laws during recruitment and does not discriminate in its hiring process. The Group practices 

fair employment and promotes the hiring of underprivileged groups, including those from deprived backgrounds with no formal 

education or qualifications. 

 

The Group is proud to present a positive distinct and diverse culture. Creating a diverse team where everyone has equal 

opportunities creates inspiration to be true to their selves. Workplace diversity as at 31 March 2023: 

. 
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  COMMUNITY 

 
The Group encourages and supports employees‟ participation in community activities. Support given is mainly in the form of cash 
donation and products sponsorship by the Group to deserving welfare and charity organizations and children foundations. The 
Group has been putting a lot of efforts by holding positions and contributing donation to welfare and charity organization as part of 
the efforts of giving back to the society where the Group operates.  
 

These are some of the community events that the Group has supported during the financial year: 
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CUSTOMER 

 
The Group‟s approach to meeting customers‟ needs and satisfaction is driven by serving and responding to the customer 

efficiently as well as meeting our customers‟ needs. This became the Group‟s feedback to keeps us relevant to their 

requirements and market  trends. Our operators and promoters are trained to educate our customers about our products by 

providing product knowledge and sharing of information and concerns related to those products. 

 

Over the years, the Group has initiated several marketing promotions, campaigns, activities and loyalty programs to increase 

our customer base and sustain the customer numbers in our outlets  and retail  boutiques. This year, online campaigns and e-

commerce platforms became the predominant choice which helps customers make their product/brand choices. 

 

 
SUPPLIER 

 
We always value and respect our business partners; our suppliers, vendors, logistic providers and retail operators who helped 

us achieve our financial objective, and with an emphasis on offering safety, assurance and better quality products and services. 

We work closely with our business partners, and aspire for success and mutual prosperity. The Group has also initiated a 

Vendor Management Program which consolidates all of our suppliers across major regions in the country as manufacturing and 

warehousing hubs to assure speedy delivery and response time to our customers within those regions. 

 
Such initiatives have not changed during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. In order to overcome supply chain disruption, the 

Group ensures that our suppliers get paid promptly or earlier on mutually agreed early payment discounts so that better quali ty 

products and services are maintained at all times.  

 
 

ENVIRONMENT 

 
We target to work towards a more environmental friendly production processes and to achieve minimal discharge of hazardous 

substances through continuous improvement of the supply chain. This means working closely with our vendor partners from 

design to finished products to reduce consumption and environmental impact as our effort to save both the environment and costs.  

 

The spike of online delivery services, single use plastic packaging, bags and containers from food deliveries and the demand for 

sanitizers and bottled water have generated massive plastic waste during the lockdown. To address this, we continue to drive 

“no plastic bag” campaign for all in-store purchases and discourage any use of non-recyclable materials for packaging and 

transportation of products.       

 
For our office building, we encourage our employees to turn off their computers, laptops and monitors if they are going to be 

away from their desk for a break or a long period of time. Majority of the office lightings that are not in used will also be switched 

off during lunch hours and past business hours.  Aside from that, regular maintenance and upkeep are also conducted on all 

office equipment to keep them running efficiently. 

 

After the pandemic, our employees continue to work from home on a scheduled basis which contributes to energy consumption 

reduction. This in turn has positive environmental effects which includes reduction in air pollution, an improvement in air and 

water quality as well as noise levels, and land surface temperature reductions.  

 
 

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

 
The Group is committed to conducting lawful and ethical business practices and zero tolerance for unethical or illegal conduct. 

To ensure our behavior and communications are aligned, we encourage employees, suppliers and stakeholders to report any 

illegal or unacceptable behavior or non-compliance with the Groups Code of Ethics and the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy.  

 
Whistleblowing  practice  is  encouraged  and  is  open to any employees, suppliers or third-parties, with the assurance that any  report  will 

be properly investigated and treated with confidentiality. 

 

Group policies has extended to include Fit & Proper to ensure a formal, rigorous and transparent process is being adhered for 

the appointment, re-appointment and/or re-election of the Directors of the Group as well as Sustainability to mandate the 

inclusion of environmental and social issues in the Group‟s business model. 

 
In FYE 2023, Asia Brands was not subject to any occurrence of non-compliance with any regulatory requirements. 
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The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 

Companies Act 2016, the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards and International Financing Reporting Standards . The 

Directors take responsibility in ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 

and the Company as at the end of each financial year, and of the results and the cash flow position of the Group and the 

Company for that financial year then ended. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have ensured that:- 

 
•  the Group and the Company have adopted the appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently; 

 
• all statements are supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates; 

 
•  all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and 

 
•  the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. 

 
The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Group and the Company maintain proper accounting records that 

disclose the financial position of the Group and of the Company with reasonable accuracy at any time, thus enabling the 

financial statements to be complied with the regulatory requirements. 

 
The Directors have overall responsibilities for taking such steps that are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of 

the Group and of the Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Such systems, by their nature, can only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.  

DIRECTOR‟S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RELATION TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

The board of directors (the “Directors” and the “Board”, respectively) and the management of Asia Brands Berhad (“ABB” or 
“Company”) together with its subsidiary companies (the “Group”) are committed to the maintenance of good corporate 
governance practices and procedures in conducting the affairs of the Group. The Board firmly believes that conducting the 
Group‟s business in a transparent and responsible manner, and following good corporate governance practices would serve the 
long-term interests of all the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). 

 

The Board is committed to ensure that the applicable principles and recommendations as prescribed in the Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance (“MCCG”) are applied throughout the Group so as to protect and enhance long-term shareholders‟ value 
and all stakeholders‟ interest.  

 

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement (“Statement”) discloses and affirms the manner and the extent in which the 
Group has applied the principles and complied with the recommendations set out in the MCCG throughout the financial year 
ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”). The detailed explanation on the application of the corporate governance practices is reported 
under the Corporate Governance Report which is published on the website of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”) at http://www.bursamalaysia.com/market and the Company‟s website at www.asiabrands.com.my. 

This Statement also serves as a compliance with paragraph 15.25 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities 
(“Main LR”).   

In general, the Group has complied  with all  material  aspects of the principles  set out in the MCCG throughout FY2023  to 
achieve the intended outcome. However, the Company notes that the Board composition during FY2023 was a variation from 
Practice 5.1 (The  Board comprises a majority of independent directors) and Practice 5.9 (The Board must have at least 30% 
women directors). 

 

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

(I) BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. Board „s Responsibilities in Meeting Objectives and Goals 

1.1 The Board 
 

The  Board is  responsible  for  the  stewardship of business and affairs of the Company in order to enhance 
long-term shareholders‟ value. The Board is fully aware and understand their collective responsibilities in 
guiding the business activities  of  the  Group  in  reaching  an optimum balance of a sound and sustainable 
business operation with  an  optimal  corporate governance framework in order to safeguard shareholders‟ 
value. 
 
The Group Managing Director is directly responsible for the day-to-day management of the business and 
operations, procuring new businesses and for the commercial and corporate performance of the Company 
within the  parameters of good governance. Non-Executive Directors play a vital check and balance role by 
challenging and scrutinizing management‟s  recommendations and proposals in an objective manner and 
bringing independent judgement to the decision-making  process at the Board and Board Committee levels. 
 
Reserved  matters  for  Board‟s decision-making includes strategic issues and planning, significant acquisition 
and disposal, dividend policy, risk management, significant property transactions, review of the financial 
statements, ensuring regulatory compliance and reviewing the adequacy and integrity of internal controls. 
 
The  Board  is also responsible for establishing  the Group‟s goals and strategic directions, setting goals and  
targets for management and monitoring the achievement of goals and targets. The Board also oversees the 
process of evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of  the system of internal controls and risk management 
processes. 
 
Any  member of  the Board may request for independent professional advice in the  discharge of  his/her  
fiduciary duties by forwarding  a request to the Group Managing Director  who  will then direct the same to an 
external service provider. The expenses incurred in this connection shall be borne by the Company. 
 
None of the Directors or any entity connected with them had a material interest in any business, apart from 
the business of the Group, which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 
business of the Group during FY2023. 
 
All  the  Directors  of  the  Company  have  objectively  discharged  their duties and responsibilities at all times 
as fiduciaries in the best interests of the Company. During FY2023, the Directors attended the following 
training, briefing and workshop programmes:- 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(I) BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (cont‟d) 

 
             1.        Board „s Responsibilities in Meeting Objectives and Goals (cont‟d) 

 
          1.1    The Board (cont‟d) 

 

In addition, the Company Secretary and external  auditors  update the Board on the respective changes and  
amendments  to  regulatory  requirements and laws, and accounting standards on a regular basis  to assist  
Directors to keep them abreast of such  latest changes in the regulatory requirements. 

 

 

1.2 Chairman of the Board 

 
The Chairman of the Board is held by a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. The responsibilities of the 
Chairman are outlined in the Board Charter, which is published on the Company‟s website at 
www.asiabrands.com.my. 

 
 

1.3 Roles of the Chairman and the Group Managing Director 

 
The position of the Chairman and the Group Managing Director are held by two (2) different individuals. There 

is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Group Managing Director to ensure that 

the Board remains balanced at all times. 

 
The Chairman  acts as the leader of the Board and is responsible for overseeing the effective discharge of the 

Board‟s supervisory role and facilitating the effective contribution of all Directors while the Group Managing 

Director focuses on the business and day-to-day management of the Company with all powers and discretion 

vested in him, from time to time, by the Board. 

 
 

1.4 Company Secretary 

 
The Board is supported by a qualified and competent  Company Secretary who is a qualified Chartered 

Secretary under Section 235(2)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 and is an Associate member of the Malaysian 

Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. 

 

Every Director has ready and unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary in 

ensuring the effective functioning of  the Board. The Directors are regularly updated and  advised  by  the  

Company Secretary on  new statutory and regulatory requirements issued by regulatory authorities, and  its 

implications to the Company and the Directors in relation to their duties and responsibilities. 

 

During FY2023, the Company Secretary has discharged her duties and responsibilities accordingly, and will 

continue to constantly keep herself abreast on matters concerning company law, the capital market, corporate 

governance, and other pertinent matters, and with changes in the regulatory environment through continuous 

training and industry updates. 

 

The Board is satisfied with the performance and support rendered by the Company Secretary in discharging 

her functions and duties. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(I) BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (cont‟d) 

 

1.       Board „s Responsibilities in Meeting Objectives and Goals (cont‟d) 

 

1.5 Meetings of Board/ Board Committee 

 
Relevant Board papers were disseminated to all the Directors at least five (5) business days in advance of the 

meeting so as to accord sufficient time for the Directors to peruse the Board papers and to seek any 

clarification or further details that they may need from the Management or the Company, or to consult 

independent advisers, if they deemed necessary. As part of the integrated risk management initiatives, the 

Board also noted the decisions and salient issues deliberated by the Board Committees through minutes of 

these committees. Board meetings are conducted in accordance to a structured agenda. 

 
Senior  management are  invited  to  attend  Board  meetings  to provide their views and explanation on 

certain items on the agenda  being  tabled  to the Board and to furnish clarification on issues that may be 

raised by the Directors. 

 
If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board, which the Board has 

determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with at a Board meeting rather than a written resolution. All 

Directors facing conflicts of interest will recuse themselves from discussions and decisions involving the 

issues of conflict, and shall abstain from voting as Directors on the relevant matters. 

 

Minutes of meetings are properly recorded and accurately reflect the deliberations and decisions of the Board, 

including whether any director abstained from voting or deliberating on a particular matter. 

 
To facilitate the Directors‟  time planning, an annual meeting calendar which provides the scheduled dates for 

meetings of the Board and  Board Committees as well as the annual general meeting is prepared and 

circulated to all  the Directors before the beginning of every financial year. Additional meetings are convened 

when urgent and important decisions need to be made between scheduled meetings. This is to  ensure  that  

the  Directors allocate sufficient  time to discharge  their duties effectively. 

 
The Board meets at least four (4) times a year at quarterly intervals with additional Board meetings convened 

when necessary. Sufficient notice periods are given to the Board prior to each meeting. During FY2023, the 

Board convened four (4) meetings and the attendance of the Directors are as follows:- 

 
Directors No. of Meetings attended 

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh 4/4 

Ng Chin Huat 4/4 

Kong Sau Kian 4/4 

Lim Kim Meng (Resigned on 29 August 2022) 
Lee Siok Yee (Appointed on 29 August 2022) 
Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan (Appointed on 29 August 2022) 

Collin Tan Chin Yew (Appointed on 29 August 2022) 

1/1 
3/3 
3/3 
3/3 

 
All the Directors complied with the minimum 50% attendance requirement in respect of Board meetings held 

during FY2023 as stipulated under Paragraph 15.05 of the Main LR of Bursa Securities. 

 
2. Demarcation of Responsibilities 

 
2.1    Board Charter 

 
In discharging its duties, the Board is guided by its Board Charter which outlines the duties and responsibilities 
of the Board and the Board Committees. Matters specifically reserved for the Board and those delegated to 
Board Committees are clearly defined in the Board Charter.  
 
The Board Charter sets out the composition and balance, roles and responsibilities and processes of the Board 
to ensure that all Board members acting on behalf of the Group are aware of their duties and responsibilities as 
Board members. The Board Charter is reviewed by the Board as and when required to ensure its relevance in 
assisting the Board in discharging its duties with the changes in the corporate laws and regulations that may 
arise from time to time and to remain consistent with the Board‟s objectives and responsibilities. The Board 
Charter is published on the Company‟s website at www.asiabrands.com.my. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(I) BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (cont‟d) 

 
3.      Good Business Conduct and Healthy Corporate Culture 

 
3.1    Code of Conduct and Ethics 

 
The Directors observe the Company Directors‟  Code of Ethics (“Code”) promulgated by the Companies 

Commission of Malaysia, which governs the underlying core ethical values and commitment to lay standards 

of integrity, transparency, accountability and corporate social responsibility to be followed by the Directors  in 

their business dealings. 

 
The Board will periodically review and reassess the  adequacy of the Code, and make such amendments to 

the Code as the  Board  may deem appropriate. The Code is  available at the Company‟s website at 

www.asiabrands.com.my. 

 
 

3.2     Whistleblowing 

 
The Board has established and adopted a Whistleblowing Policy that provides employees with proper 

reporting channels and guidance to disclose any wrongdoing or improper conduct relating to malpractices, 

unlawful conducts, any violation of established written policies. 

 
The Whistleblowing Policy is also to ensure that fair treatment is provided to both the whistle-blower and the 

alleged wrongdoer when a disclosure of improper conduct  is  made either verbally or in writing. 

 
The implementation of the policy enables better transparency and accessibility to our stakeholders to report 

any misconduct that may occur within the Group. 

 
3.3     Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 

 
The Group has established an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy which prohibits all forms of bribery and 

corruption practices. 

 

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and corruption in all its forms, and is committed to 
conducting business free from any acts of bribery or corruption in upholding high standards of ethics and 
integrity. 

 

 
(II) BOARD COMPOSITION 

 
4.       Objectivity of the Board‟s Decisions 

 
4.1     Board Composition 

 
The current Board comprises six (6) Directors, out of which, one (1) Executive Director, three (3) Non-
Independent Non-Executive Directors and two (2)  Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
 
The profiles of the Directors are set out in this Annual Report. 
 
The  Company has not been able to apply Practices 5.2 and 5.9 of the MCCG as the Board is of the view that 
application of both these Practices would require some time. Although less than half of the Board comprises 
independent directors, however, the Company fulfills the requirement of at least one-third (1/3) of the Board 
comprises  independent  directors as stipulated under paragraph 15.02(1) of the Main LR. There is currently 
one (1) female Director on the Board. The Board, taking into account the nature of the operations of the Group, 
considers its current size and composition to be adequate for effective decision-making and the ability to 
discharge the Board‟s  priorities objectively with the balance of power and authority on the Board. 
 
The Non-Executive Directors are independent of management and have no relationships that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment. Together, the Directors have wide range of 
experience in business, corporate, banking and financial experience. 
 
The Board is of the opinion that the composition of the current Board has the required mix of skills and 
experience required to discharge the Board‟s duties and responsibilities. Collectively, the Directors combine 
their diverse commercial, regulatory, industry and financial experience to add value to the Board as a whole. 
 
. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(II) BOARD COMPOSITION (cont‟d) 

 

4. Objectivity of the Board‟s Decisions (cont‟d) 
 

4.1 Board Composition (cont‟d) 

 
The Board is free to discuss all matters regarding the affairs of the Group, without any restrictions or limitations 
being imposed on any Director. Where matters discussed involve the interest of the Chairman, he shall state his 
interest   and refrain from discussions and decision-making. 
 
No individual or a company of individuals dominates the Board‟s decision making. 

 

All the Directors have equal responsibility for the Group‟s operations and corporate accountability. The 
Independent Non-Executive Directors play a vital supporting role by contributing their knowledge and 
experience towards the development of the Group‟s objectives. They also provide a broader and independent 
view in the decision-making process. 

 

To  assist  the  Board  in carrying out its duties and responsibilities, the Board has established the following 
Board Committees, each with clearly defined Terms of Reference in order to enhance corporate efficiency 
and effectiveness:- 

 

(i) Audit and Risk Management Committee; and  
(ii) Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) and 
(iii) Sustainability & ESG Committee (“SESGC‟). 

 

4.2 Tenure of Independent Directors 
 

The NRC assesses the independence of the Independent Directors and monitors their tenure annually. 
 
Presently, Ms. Lee Siok Yee and Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan are the Independent Non-Executive Directors of 
the Company who served the Board for a cumulative term of less than nine (9) years. 
 
In accordance to Practice 5.3 of the MCCG, the tenure of an independent director should not exceed a term 
limit of nine (9) years. Upon completion of the nine (9) years, an independent director may continue to serve on 
the board as a non-independent director. Mr. Kong Sau Kian wished to continue serving the Board and was 
redesignated to Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 29 August 2022 after having 
served close to 12 years as an Independent Non-Executive Director. 
 
However, Mr. Lim Kim Meng, who had served as an Independent Non-Executive Director for almost 12 years, 
had resigned on 29 August 2022 as he does not wish to be redesignated as non-independent director in 
accordance with. 

 

4.3 Appointment of Board and Senior Management 
 

The NRC is responsible for the nomination and election process of new Directors and to evaluate the balance 
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the Board, and, in light of this evaluation, prepares a 
description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment. In identifying suitable candidates, 
the NRC shall:- 

 

(i) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; 
(ii) consider candidates on merit, against objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, 

including gender; and 
(iii) ensure that once appointed, appointees have enough time available to devote to the position of director. 

 

For the appointment of a Chairman, the NRC shall consider the expected time commitment. A proposed 
Chairman‟s other significant commitments is also disclosed to the Board before the appointment, and any 
changes thereto is reported to the Board. 

 

Prior to the appointment of a director, the proposed appointee shall be required to disclose any other business 
interests that  may result in a  conflict of interest  in relation to the Company, and shall be required to report 
any future business interests which may develop post-appointment, that could result in a conflict of interest. 
Conflict of interest should be avoided to prevent potential damage to personal and the Group‟s interest and 
reputation. 

 

During FY2023, the Board has taken into account the assessment by the NRC and is satisfied with the mix of 
skills and board composition level, therefore, no new Director is sourced and appointed to the Board. 

 

In the event a candidate is required for the appointment of director, the NRC will use variety of approaches 
and sources to ensure that it identifies that most suitable candidates and will not limit themselves solely on the 
recommendations from existing Board members, management or major shareholders. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 
 

(II) BOARD COMPOSITION (cont‟d) 
 

4. Objectivity of the Board‟s Decisions (cont‟d) 
 

4.4 Board Diversity 
 

The Board  acknowledges the recommendation of the MCCG in relation to the establishment of board room 
gender diversity policy. However, in the process of selection of Board members, the Company practices non-
discrimination  in any form, whether based on gender, age, ethnicity or religion as all candidates shall be 
given fair and square opportunity. The Board currently has one (1) female Director. 

 

When the need arises, the Board would give more weightage on the appointment of female directors and 
senior management. 

 

4.5 Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) 
 

Following the resignation of Mr. Lim Kim Meng and the redesignation of Mr. Kong Sau Kian, the NRC 
currently comprises three (3) Directors, the  majority of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors of  
the Company. The members of the NRC are as follows: 

 

Name Directorship Designation 

Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan (appointed on 29 August 

2022) 
Independent Non-Executive Director Chairman 

Lee Siok Yee (appointed on 29 August 2022) Independent Non-Executive Director Member 

Collin Tan Chin Yew (appointed on 29 August 2022) Non-Independent Non-Executive Director Member 

The principal objectives of the NRC are:- 
 

(i) to assist the Board in the nomination of candidates for appointment as directors; 
(ii) to assist the Board in overseeing the selection and assessment of  the performance of the Directors of  

the Company  on an on-going basis; and 
(iii) to assist the Board in assessing the remuneration packages of the Group Managing Director and Group 

Chief Executive Officer. 
 

The NRC also oversees matters relating to the nomination of new  Directors, annually reviews the required 
mix of skills, experience,  independence  assessment of Independent Directors, reviews succession plans and 
boardroom diversity; oversees training courses for directors and other requisite qualities of Directors, as well 
as the annual assessment of the  effectiveness of the Board as a whole, its Committees and the contribution 
of each individual Director. 

 

Authority, duties and responsibilities of the NRC 
 

The NRC is governed by its terms of reference (“TOR”) which is available on the Company‟s website at 
www.asiabrands.com.my. 

 

Summary of Activities of the NRC 
 

During FY2023, the main activities carried out by the NRC included the following:- 
 

(i) Recommended  the re-election of retiring Director at the 47th annual general meeting. 
(ii) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and of the Board Committees and the contribution 

and performance of each individual Director and key officers. 
(iii) Reviewed the terms of office of ARMC. 
(iv) Reviewed the overall composition of the Board. 
(v) Reviewed the independence of the Independent Directors and assessed their ability according to the following 

criteria:- 
• the Independent Directors fulfil the definition of an independent director as set out under Paragraph 1.01 

• of Main LR of Bursa Securities. 

• the Independent Directors are able to exercise independent judgement and act in the best interest of the 

• Company. 

• there must be no potential conflict of interest that the Independent Directors could have with the Company as 
they had not entered into any contract or transaction with the Company and/or its subsidiaries within the 
scope and meaning as set forth under Paragraph 5 of Practice Note 13 of the Main LR of Bursa Securities. 

• the Independent Directors have not developed, established or maintained any significant personal or social 
relationship, whether direct or indirect, with the Non-Executive Chairman and Group Managing Directors, 
major shareholders or Management of the Company (including their family members) other than normal 
engagements and interactions on a professional level consistent with their duties and expected of them to 
carry out their duties as an Independent Director. 

• the Independent Directors do not derive any remuneration and benefits apart from Directors‟ fees and 

meeting allowances. 



30 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT 

 

 

 
 

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(II) BOARD COMPOSITION (cont‟d) 

 
5. Overall Effectiveness of the Board (cont‟d) 

 
5.1 Annual Evaluation of the Board 

 

The NRC conducted an annual assessment of the Board‟s effectiveness as a whole and the contribution of 

each individual Directors in respect of FY 2023 using customised questionnaires to be completed by the 
Directors. The results of the self-assessment by Directors and the Board‟s effectiveness as a whole were 

tabled to the NRC and the Board for review. 

 
The criteria for Director‟s evaluation cover areas such as contributions to interaction, roles and responsibilities 
and quality of input to enhance the Board‟s effectiveness. For Board and Board Committee assessment, the 

criteria include board structure and operations, their roles and responsibilities, succession planning and board 
governance. 

 

The Board studied the results of evaluation and is generally satisfied with its current size, composition as well 
as the mix of skill sets and the independence of its Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

 
The Board has also assessed the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, taking into 

account the individual Director‟s ability to exercise independent judgment at all times and their contribution to 

the effective functioning of the Board, and is satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by all the 
Independent Non- Executive Directors and their ability to act in the best interest of the Company. 

 
Based  on the assessment carried out for the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Board is satisfied with 

the level on independence demonstrated by all the Independent Directors and their ability to act in the best 

interests of the Company. 

 
The Independent Directors are not employees and they do not participate in the day-to-day management of 

the Group. They bring an external perspective, constructively challenge and help to develop proposals on 

strategy, scrutinise the performance of Management in meeting approved goals and objectives and monitor 

the risk profile of the Company‟s business and the reporting of quarterly business performance. 

 
 

(III) REMUNERATION 

 
6. Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management 

 
6.1 Remuneration Policy 

 
The Board has a formal procedure to determine the remuneration of each Director which is reviewed from 

time to time against market practices. The Board ensures that the level of remuneration is sufficient to attract 

and retain Directors needed to run the Group successfully. The component part of remuneration has been 

structured to link rewards to corporate and individual performance for the Group Chief Executive Officer whilst 

Non-Executive Directors ‟remuneration reflects their experience and level of responsibilities. 

 

6.2 NRC 

 
The NRC also recommends to the Board, the policy framework and remuneration and benefits extended to 

the Group Managing Director.  Non-Executive Directors‟ remuneration is a matter to be decided by the Board 

as a whole, with the Directors concerned abstaining from deliberation and voting in respect of their 

remuneration. 

 

The Terms of Reference of the NRC is available at the Company‟s website at www.asiabrands.com.my. 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(III) REMUNERATION (cont‟d) 

 
6. Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management (cont‟d) 

 
6.3 Remuneration of Directors 

 
Details of the remuneration package for the Directors‟ during FYE 2023 are as follows: 

 
Received from the Company 
 

 

 
Received from the Group 
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont‟d) 

 
(III) REMUNERATION (cont‟d) 

 
             6.      Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management (cont‟d) 
 

 

6.4 Remuneration of Senior Management 

 
The remuneration for the senior management are as follows:- 

 

Range of Remuneration (RM) Number of Senior Management 

120,000 to 180,000 0 

180,001 to 360,000 2 

Above 360,000 1 

Total 3 

 

The  Board opined that such disclosure of the key senior management‟s remuneration on a named basis 

would have adverse effect on the Company‟s talent retention in the competitive industry. All senior 

management‟s remuneration packages are based on their scope of duty and responsibilities. 

 
The NRC is of the view that the level of remuneration package of the senior management in respect of  

FY2023 is fair and reasonable to retain and reward the talents. 

 
 

PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
(I) AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 
                          7. Effective and Independent ARMC 

 
7.1    ARMC and the Board are chaired by different individuals 

 
The ARMC is chaired by Ms. Lee Siok Yee while the Chairman of the Board is Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh. 

 
7.2    Cooling-off Period of at least three (3) years for former Key Audit Partner 

 
None of  the ARMC members were former key audit partners within the cooling-off period of at least three (3) 

years before being appointed as a member of the ARMC. 

 
7.3     Assessment of External Auditors 

 
The  ARMC  does  not  have  specific  policies and  procedures to  assess the  suitability, objectivity  and  

independence of the external auditors. 

 

However, the ARMC  undertakes an annual  assessment of the suitability and independence  of the external 

auditors. The ARMC meets with the external auditors to discuss their audit plan, audit findings and the 

Company‟s financial statements. 

 

The  ARMC noted for FY2023, REANDA LLKG International, the external auditors of the Company and of the 

Group, have provided their written  assurance  that they are, and have been, independent through the conduct 

of the audit engagement in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of 

the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants‟ 

International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). 

 

Upon completion of the  assessment, the ARMC was satisfied with REANDA LLKG International‟s  technical 

competency in terms of suitability and independence during the financial year under review. 

 
7.4     Financial Literacy of ARMC Members 

 
The ARMC members possess a wide range of necessary skills and are financially literate. Their profiles are 

set out in the Director‟s Profile section of this Annual Report. 
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(II) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK 

 
8.1 Risk Management and Internal Control 

 
The Board has established a risk management framework that outlines the Group‟s risk management system, 

defines Management‟s responsibilities and sets out the risk appetite and risk tolerance of the Group. Details of the 

framework are set out in the Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control in this Annual Report. 

 
The Board has delegated the overall responsibility for reviewing and monitoring the adequacy and integrity of the 

Group‟s risk management and internal control framework to the ARMC. The ARMC is supported by the Risk 

Management Committee (“the RMC”) and the Internal Audit Department. 

 
The RMC assists the ARMC to identify, assess, mitigate and monitor critical risks highlighted by business units and 

implement risk management policies and strategies approved by the Board. The Internal Audit Department, which 

undertakes the internal audit function, assists the ARMC to review, evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of the 

Group‟s governance, risk management and internal control processes. 

 
The risk management framework is regularly reviewed by the Management and relevant recommendations are 

made to the ARMC and Board for approval. 

 
The internal controls are tested for effectiveness and efficiency every financial year by the Internal Audit Department 

following risk-based approaches. 

 
The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the Group‟s risk management and internal controls during FY2023 and 

confirmed that there was an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by 

the Group during FY2023. 
 

 
9. Effective Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control Framework 

 
9.1 Internal Audit Function 

 
The Directors acknowledged their responsibility in maintaining a reasonable sound system of internal controls 

covering financial, operational and compliance and risk management. This system is designed to manage, 

rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group‟s corporate objectives, as well as to safeguard 

shareholders‟ investments and the Group‟s assets. The Board seeks regular assurance on the continuity and 

effectiveness of the internal control system through independent review by the internal and external auditors. 

 
The internal audit function is independent of the operations of the Group and provides reasonable assurance 

that the Group‟s system of internal control is satisfactory and operating effectively. The internal auditors adopt 

a risk-based approach towards the planning and conduct of audits, which are consistent with the Group‟s 

framework in designing, implementing and monitoring its internal control system. An Internal Audit Planning 

Memorandum, setting out the internal audit work expected to be carried out is tabled to the ARMC. 

 
The Group‟s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control is disclosed in this Annual Report. 

 
 

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

 
(I) COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

 
10. Continuous Communication between the Company and Stakeholders 

 
10.1 Effective, Transparent and Regular Communication 

 
10.1.1 Dialogue between Companies and Investors 

 
The Board recognises the importance of timely dissemination of information to shareholders and other 

interested parties to ensure that they are well informed of all major developments of the Group. Such 

information is communicated through various disclosures and announcements to Bursa Securities, 

including the quarterly financial results, annual reports and where appropriate, circulars and press 

releases. This information can be assessed from the website of Bursa Securities at 

“www.bursamalaysia.com.my”. In addition, interviews conducted from time to time by local journalists 

with the management of the Group are reported in the local newspapers and information on the Group 

and its business activities is available at the company‟s website at www.asiabrands.com.my. 

 

 



34 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT 

 

 

 

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
(cont‟d) 

 
(I) COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (cont‟d) 

 
10. Continuous Communication between the Company and Stakeholders (cont‟d) 

 
10.1 Effective, Transparent and Regular Communication (cont‟d) 
 

    10.1.1 Dialogue between Companies and Investors (cont‟d) 

 
The Company‟s website incorporates an Investor Relations section which provides all relevant 

information on the Company and is accessible by the public. This Investor Relations section enhances 

the Investor Relations function by including analyst reports, all announcements made by the 

Company, annual reports as well as the corporate and governance structure of the Company. 

 
10.1.2 Shareholder Communication Policy 

 
The Board has put in place a Shareholder Communication Policy to facilitate the effective exercise of 

those rights by ensuring that the Company communicates effectively with its shareholders. 

 
This Policy aims to promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective 

participation by shareholders at the Company‟s general meetings. To ensure a high quality of 

communication and level of clarity with all investors and other stakeholders, whilst complying with its 

statutory disclosure obligations, the Company endeavors to provide shareholders with ready and 

widespread access on a timely basis to matters that affect their investment in the Company; 

communicate in a clear, accurate and easy to understand manner with investors and other 

stakeholders. 

 
The communication channels for shareholders are as follows:- 

 
(i) Corporate Website 

 
The Company believes that communicating with shareholders by electronic means, particularly 

through its website, is an efficient way of distributing information in a timely and convenient 

manner. The Company‟s website (www.asiabrands.com.my) has a dedicated “Investor Relations” 

section which carries information available to the shareholders. 

 
The Company will leverage on technology to broaden its channel of dissemination of information and to 

enhance the quality of engagement with the shareholders. 

 
(ii) Shareholders‟ Meeting 

 
Annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of the Company are ideal 

opportunities to communicate with shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in 

general meetings. 

 
(iii) Shareholders‟ Enquiries 

 
Shareholders and investors may at any time request for the Company‟s public information. The 

Company provides a designated email address (info@asiabrands.com.my) for shareholders to 

make any enquiry. 

 
(iv) Annual Reports 

 
Annual Report remains a major channel of communication disclosing information not only on the 

Group‟s businesses, financials but also additional information such as the Company‟s mission 

and vision, operational performance, outlook and senior management team. The Board constantly 

improves the contents of the Annual Report to incorporate developments among others, in 

corporate governance and reports of Board Committees and ensure accuracy of the information 

as the Annual Report is a vital and convenience source of essential information for investors, 

shareholders and other stakeholders. 

 
The Company aims to adopt integrated reporting based on the globally recognised framework in 

future in stages. 
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
(cont‟d) 

 
(II) COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS (cont‟d) 

 
10.      Continuous Communication between the Company and Stakeholders (cont‟d) 
 
         10.1      Effective, Transparent and Regular Communication (cont‟d) 
 

                     The Shareholders Communication Policy will be reviewed regularly by management to ensure that it reflects 
            current regulatory, community and investor requirements. 

 
 

(III) CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS 

 
11. Shareholders‟ Participation at General Meetings 

 
11.1 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 

 
The main forum of dialogue with shareholders of the Company is the Company‟s AGM. The AGM represents 

the primary platform for direct two-way interactions between shareholders, Directors and senior management 

of the Company. 

 

In compliance with Practice 13.1 of the MCCG, the Company gives its shareholders at least 28 days‟ notice 

prior to the AGM, so as to give sufficient time to shareholders to consider the resolutions that  will be 

discussed and decided at the AGM. The notice of AGM also provides detailed explanation for each resolution 

proposed to enable shareholders to make informed decisions in exercising their voting rights. 

 

In line with the Main LR, the Company has implemented poll voting for all the resolutions set out in the notices 

of general meetings. An independent scrutineer is appointed to observe  the polling  process and tabulate  the 

polling results. 

 

The Company will monitor developments in the market for cost effective technology to enable shareholders to 

participate and vote at AGMs remotely. 

 
11.2 Attendance of Directors at General Meetings 

 
All Directors and the external auditors are expected to attend all shareholders‟ meetings to take questions 

raised by shareholders. 

 
 

This Corporate Governance Overview Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 21 July 
 2023. 
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) comprises the following members:- 
 

Lee Siok Yee   Chairman/ Independent Non-Executive Director 

(Appointed on 29 August 2022) 
Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan   Member/ Independent Non-Executive Director 
(Appointed on 29 August 2022) 
Kong Sai Kian   Member/ Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
(Redesignated on 29 August 2022)  

  
 
 

MEETINGS 
 

The ARMC held four (4) meetings during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”). The attendance of each ARMC 
member are as follows:-  

 
Name of Member Attendance 

Lee Siok Yee 3/3 

Dato Dr. Lim Weng Khuan 
Kong Sau Kian 
Lim Kim Meng (Resigned on 29 August 2022) 

3/3 
4/4 
1/1 

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh (Ceased as member on 29 August 2022) 4/4 

 

The Group Managing Director, Group Chief  Executive Officer,  Chief  Financial  Officer, and Finance Manager are invited to 
attend ARMC meetings. The external auditors are also invited to attend the ARMC meetings to present their audit plan and audit 
findings, and to assist the ARMC in its review of the year-end financial statements.  
 
The ARMC Chairperson engages with senior management, the external and internal auditors to keep abreast of matters affecting 
the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”). Where significant issues are noted, the ARMC Chairman communicates and 
confers with the other members, either through emails or in meetings. 

 
 

AUTHORITY, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ARMC 
 

The ARMC is governed by its Terms of Reference (“TOR”) which is available on the Company‟s website at www.asiabrands.com.my. 
 

SUMMARY OF WORK 

 

The main work carried out by the ARMC for FY2023 in discharging its functions and duties in accordance with its TOR is 
summarised as follows:- 
 
(a) Financial Reporting 

 

• Reviewed  the unaudited quarterly financial reports and year-end  financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
March 2023 (“FY2023”) before tabling to the Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) for consideration and 

approval.  
 

• Reviewed the financial performance and financial highlights of the Company and of the Group on a quarterly basis. 
 
• Reviewed the audited financial statements, directors‟ reports and other significant accounting issues arising from the 

audit for FY2023 with the external auditors before they were presented to the Board for approval. 
 

• In its review of the quarterly financial reports and year-end financial statements, discussed  with management and the 
external auditors  on  the financial reporting standards applied, including the judgments exercised in the application of 
those standards and the critical accounting estimates and assumptions used in arriving at the reported amounts of 
items in the quarterly financial reports and year-end financial statements. 

 
• Reviewed and recommended all the reports and statements for inclusion in the Company‟s 2023 Annual Report to the 

Board for approval. 
 

• Reviewed and was satisfied with the solvency tests prepared by management prior to the declaration and payment of 
final dividend for FY2022, and the interim and final dividends for FY2023. 

 
(b) External Audit 

 

• Reviewed the external auditors‟ audit planning memorandum in respect of the audit for the financial statements of 
the Company and the Group for FY2023. 

 

http://www.asiabrands.com.my/
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SUMMARY OF WORK (cont‟d) 

(b)      External Audit (cont‟d) 

 
• Reviewed and discussed the external auditors‟ audit report, key audit matters and the significant audit findings 

underlying their report. 
 

• Noted  that  the  external  auditors  did  not  report  any  actual, suspected or alleged  fraud  affecting the Group, and 
also  there were no non-compliances. 
 

• Evaluated the performance of the external auditors including suitability, objectivity and independence, taking into 
consideration their  technical competencies, audit quality and manpower resource  sufficiency to perform the audit of 
the Group. Also  reviewed the  reasonableness  of  the  audit  fees charged against the size and complexity of the 

Group, and made recommendations to the Board on their reappointment and remuneration. 
 

• Reviewed the audited  financial  statements of the Company and of the Group prior to tabling to the Board for 
approval. 

 
• Reviewed the audit services and non-audit services provided by the external auditors and their corresponding fees 

incurred. The ARMC had concluded that the external auditors had remained independent during FY2023. 
 

(c) Internal Audit 

 
• Reviewed the  internal  audit plan for FY2023 on clearance sales, focusing on clearance stock controls, clearance 

stock-take process and clearance stock movement which encompassed the review planning versus execution, stock 

consolidation process, delivery and return process, site stock control process, management of stock losses and write-

off process.  
 

• Reviewed the Internal Audit Report of the Group for FY2023, which highlighted  the audit issues, recommendations 
and management‟s responses, and directed action to be taken by the management to rectify  and improve the system 
of internal control on the ability of the organization in executing financial reporting and accounting processes in 
remote working environment to address risks such as:  

1.  the increased focus on remote close activities and related controls may dissipate as it becomes the “new normal.”  

2.  disruption caused by COVID-19, such as remote working, may impact the organizations ability to meet financial 
 reporting and filing requirements.  

3.  team members or entities do not obtain the required insight usually obtained through casual conversations or are 
 unavailable at required times.  

4.  financial records (including non-electronic) and systems are not available/accessible/stable. 

 
• Monitored  the implementation of recommendations made by the internal auditors arising from its audits in order to 

obtain assurances that all key risks and control concerns have been fully addressed. 
 

• Evaluated  the performance of the internal audit department during FY2023 as well as their capability and competency 
to serve the Group in terms of technical competencies and manpower resource sufficiency 

 
(d) Matters relating to related party transaction 

 
• Took note of all the recurrent related party transactions (“RRPTs”) reported on a quarterly basis. 

 
• Reviewed  and  deliberated  on  all  proposed RRPTs to  be  entered into by the Group to ensure that the proposed 

transactions  to be entered  into a r e   in the best  interest of the Group, fair, reasonable  and  on normal  

commercial  terms, and not  detrimental to the interests of the minority shareholders of the Company. 

 
• Reviewed  the  circular  to  shareholders  in  relation  to  the  proposed  shareholders‟  mandate  for  RRPTs  prior  to  

its approval  by the Board. 
 

(e) Matters relating to risk management and internal control 

 
• Noted the Risk Management Report of the Group for FY2022, which includes an overview of the significant risks impacting 

the Group and the measures taken by the risk management team and the management to address and manage the risks 
identified, the residual exposures along with an appropriate management action plan to manage or mitigate such 
exposures. 
 

• Noted the key risks of the Group being the liquidity risk, collection risk, supply chain risk and market risk 
 

(f) Other matters 

 
• Reviewed the re-appointment of external auditors during FY2023 and recommended to the Board to propose to 

shareholders the re-appointment of the external auditors at the annual general meeting of the Company.  
•  
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• Reviewed  the re-appointment of the external auditors or their affiliated firms to provide any non-audit services 

to the Group to ensure that their independence and objectivity as external auditors would not be impaired by 

the performance of such non-audit services 

 
• Reviewed  and  recommended the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, Corporate Governance 

Report, Corporate Governance Overview Statement incorporating the ARMC Report, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee as well as Additional Compliance  Information to  the  Board for approval and inclusion in 

the  2023 Annual Report. 
 

• Reviewed  the  statement  to  shareholders  in  relation  to  the  proposed  renewal  of  authority  for  the  
Company  to  purchase its  own shares of up to 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company, prior 
to the submission to the Board for approval. 

 
 
EVALUATION OF THE ARMC 

 
For FY2023, an evaluation was carried out on the term of office, competency and performance of the ARMC. 

 
TRAINING 

 
Details of training programmes and seminars attended by each ARMC member during FY2023 are set out in this Annual Report. 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 

 
The ARMC is aware that an adequately resourced internal audit function is essential to provide independent and objective 

advice on the effectiveness of the Group‟s internal controls to the ARMC and thereafter, to the Management.  

 

The Group‟s internal audit function was performed in-house by the Internal Audit Department, which reports directly to the 

ARMC, and assists the ARMC in monitoring and evaluating the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the risk management, 

the Group‟s internal control and governance processes in anticipating key business process exposure to risk. 

 
A summary of work of the internal audit function for FY2023 are as follows:- 
 
• Evaluated the ability of the organization in executing financial reporting and accounting processes in remote working 

environment to address risks, such as:-  

1.  the increased focus on remote close activities and related controls may dissipate as it becomes the “new normal.”  
2.  disruption caused by COVID-19, such as remote working, may impact the organizations ability to meet financial 
  reporting and filing requirements.  
3.  team members or entities do not obtain the required insight usually obtained through casual conversations or are 
  unavailable at required times.  

4.  financial records (including non-electronic) and systems are not available/accessible/stable.  
 
In carrying out the evaluation, the internal audit team took the approach to conduct the evaluation, which 
includes the benchmarking method against industry best practices, a checklist method and quick-fire responses 
to be tabulated and summarized for the management‟s improvement plans and interviews on-site, field 
observation and process walk-through. 

 
• Assessed and evaluated the adequacy of the risk management practices, operational controls, compliance with regulatory 

requirements, management efficiency to ensure that the internal control system is sound and satisfactory. 
 

• Carried out audits in accordance with the internal audit plan approved by the ARMC and other significant areas 
recommended by the management to the ARMC. 

 
• Ensured that those weaknesses were appropriately addressed and that recommendations from the internal audit reports 

and correction actions on reported weaknesses were taken appropriately within the timeframe by the management. 
 
• Presented the audit findings and corrective actions to be taken by management in the ARMC meetings. 

 
• Reviewed RRPTs on a quarterly basis in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Circular to Shareholders for RRPTs 

of a revenue or trading nature. 
 

The  costs incurred for the internal audit function in respect of FY2023 including staff costs and overheads amounted to 

RM20,000/-, which was the same as the previous financial year. 

 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 21 July 2023. 
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The  Board of  Directors of Asia Brands Berhad (“Board”) is pleased to present the Company‟s Statement on Risk Management 

and Internal Control (“Statement”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023”). The disclosure in this Statement is 

presented pursuant to paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and 

guided by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers. This Statement 

outlines the nature and state of risk management and internal controls of the Group (comprising the Company and its  

subsidiary companies) during FY2023. 

 
BOARD‟S RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The  Board acknowledges that proper risk management and internal control are important aspects of a company‟s governance, 

management and operations, and therefore, the Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk management framework and 

internal control system to safeguard shareholders‟ investments and the Group‟s assets, in addition to setting the qua lity at the 

top and a culture towards effective risk management and internal control.  

 
The Board also acknowledges its responsibilities for the adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls of the Group 

and are fully aware that the system of internal control cannot totally eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, 

and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”), which is empowered by its terms of reference, is to ensure that there is 

independent oversight of internal control and risk management. However, the Board remains responsible for the governance of 

risk and for all the actions of the Board Committees with regard to the execution of delegated oversight responsibilities. 

 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 

Management assists the Board in implementing the Group‟s approved policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying,  
evaluating, measuring, monitoring and reporting  risks as well as the effectiveness of the internal control systems, taking 
appropriate and timely remedial actions as required. The management also assists in embedding risk management and internal 
control system in all aspects of the Group‟s  activities. 
 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

 

There is an ongoing process of risk identification which involves identifying possible risk exposures arising from changes in the 

internal and external environment as well as operational conditions. The process, which was in place for the financial year under 

review and up to the date of issuance of this Annual Report,  is supported by procedures, methodologies and evaluation criteria 

to ensure clarity and consistency of application across the Group. The Board has delegated its authority to the Risk 

Management Committee (“RMC”) to formulate, review and determine the level of risk tolerance. 

 
A briefing is presented to the ARMC on the significant risks impacting the Group and the measures taken by the RMC and 

management to address and manage such risks. Residual exposures were highlighted along with an appropriate management 

action plan to manage or mitigate such exposures. Any internal or external changes that may significantly impact the risks and 

controls spectrum is also highlighted. 

 

The Board annually reviews and discuss the potential risk and risk tolerance with the RMC and management at Board meetings. 

The risk management control processes  are  reviewed by the RMC on an ongoing  basis for identification and mitigation of the 

major risks within the Group.  

               
    RISK MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT 
 

The RMC, which comprises senior management from all business units and relevant heads of departments, oversees risk 
management matters within the Group. It is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer who reports to the ARMC on behalf of the 
RMC. The RMC meets on a quarterly basis and the Group‟s aggregated risk position and specific significant risk issues are 
reported to the ARMC on a half-yearly basis. The day-to-day risk management resides with the respective business units and 
support units, where action plans are developed and implemented to manage risks. 

 

       RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS 
 

The Group‟s risk management framework establishes the context of risk in relation to the Group‟s business and sets out the 
process for risk identification, measurement and treatment with continuous monitoring, review and communication. All key risks 
identified are captured in a risk template and reviewed by the heads of business and support units. The risk template includes 
detailed assessments of the risks as well as the corresponding mitigating controls implemented or to be implemented to deal 
with the risks. All risks are consolidated and presented for deliberation during the quarterly RMC meetings. The activities of the 
RMC and all its key findings are then presented to the ARMC at least twice a year for update and to ensure its continued 
application and relevance. 
                                       

 

 

 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
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    RISK APPETITE AND TOLERANCE 
 

The Board, through the RMC, establishes the risk appetite and risk parameters for the Group. The Group‟s risk appetite forms 

an integral part of the Group‟s risk management framework as it sets the tone for risk taking in general as well as serves to 

provide direction in assessing whether the Group is operating within the acceptable limits in achieving its strategic objectives. 

The risk parameters are aligned to the Group‟s risk appetite, providing a guide for consistent evaluation of risks and prioritisation 

of risk mitigation actions to address the risks. The defined risk parameters, both financial and non-financial, are reviewed by 

management and the RMC as and when necessary, to ensure changes in circumstances or risk appetite are reflected fairly and 

in a timely manner in the risk parameters.  

 

The risk measurement guidelines consist of qualitative measures to determine the financial and non-financial consequences of 

different risks based on their likelihood and impact. The risk control actions are designed and implemented based on the priority 

sequence articulated in the following three (3) large areas that define the positioning of which management is required to adopt 

or maintain in the operation of its business:  

• The minimum liquidity position that the Group wants to have.  

•  The collection or credit position that the Group wants to maintain.  

•  The maximum levels of supply chain that the Group considers reasonable to accept. 

 
KEY RISKS 

 
The Group‟s financial performance and operations are influenced by a vast range of risk factors. The Group aims to mitigate the 
exposure through appropriate risk management strategies and internal controls. Principally, the key risks of the Group are as 
follows: 

 
1.  Liquidity Risk 

 
 The Group‟s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from the mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and 

 liabilities. 

 

 The Group‟s  funding  requirement and  liquidity risks are managed  with  the  objectives  of  meeting  business  

 obligations  on  a  timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through internally generated cash flows and minimizes 

 liquidity risk by keeping committed  credit  lines  available. 

 

 Liquidity risk is managed on both the Group and entity basis. The primary objective of liquidity risk management is to 

 ensure that the bank has sufficient access to funding, to support business activities and to meet contingencies. The 

 Group uses several liquidity risk indicators/ratios for monitoring purposes. The management reviews the Group‟s liquidity 

 ratios and deposit gathering activities regularly and maintain sufficient liquidity buffer as well as exploring alternative 

 funding sources which would provide the Group with additional avenues to manage costs, volumes and maturities. 

 

2.  Collection Risk 
 

 Collection risk is defined as the risk of a counterparty failing to complete its contractual obligations when they fall due. The 
 consequent loss is either the amount of the debt not paid back or the loss incurred when the counterparty delays payment. 
 Based on management‟s  risk assessment, the Group‟s consignment business segment has a higher risk of receiving late 
 payments compared to the outright and retail business segment. 
 
 The Group sell goods on trade credit, invoicing customers for payment at a later date. Collection risk management 
 involves decisions based upon their customers‟ financial health, which can indicate their ability to pay on time. Extending 
 the appropriate amount of credit (credit limit) to qualified customers may reduce the risk of late payments or defaults, both 
 of which can expose the Group to financial challenges. 
 
 Collection risk management is the practice of determining creditworthiness – assessing new and returning customers for 
 risk of late or non- payment. The Group performs due diligence to manage the risks that come with extending business 
 credit. The Collection team maintains a framework for the identification, analysis and monitoring of collection risks arising 
 within each business model. 
 
 In order to establish the status of the customer, the Group will use a combination of financial and non-financial variables. 
 Some of the methods adapted by the Group are subjective in approach whilst others are more systematic as in the use of 
 quantitative techniques to evaluate a credit against objective benchmark. 

 

3.  Supply Chain Risk 

 
 Risks to the supply chain range from unpredictable natural threats to counterfeit products, and reaches across quality, 

 security, to resiliency and product integrity. Mitigation plans to manage these risks can involve logistics, cybersecurity, 

 finance and risk management disciplines; the ultimate goal being to ensure supply chain continuity in the event of a 

 scenario which otherwise would have interrupted normal business and so profitability. 
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 Supply chain risk management attempts to reduce supply-chain vulnerability via a coordinated approach, involving all 

 supply-chain stakeholders, which identifies and analyses the risk of failure points within the supply chain.  

 

4.  Market Risk 

 
Market risk is closely linked to the liquidity risk. If the market is bad, there would only be outflow of cash with very minimum 
in flow. This risk is very dependent on the sales and marketing effectiveness, financing availability, market segment 
targeting, income level of the customers, general economy conditions, etc. This risk is very difficult to quantify and at best, 
is a judgmental call by the management. 
                                                     

 

STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL 

 
The Group has established standard processes for identifying, assessing and managing the key risks faced by the Group. 

These include periodic testing of the effectiveness and efficiency of internal control procedures as well as updating the system of 

internal controls when there are changes to the business environment and/or regulatory guidelines. These processes have been 

in place for FY2023 and up to the date of approval of this Statement. 

 

The Group‟s internal control systems are embedded within the operating activities, inter alia, the following key elements which 

provide  effective  governance  and  oversight  of  internal  control: 

 
• Organisation Structure 

 
The current  organisation structure enables a clear reporting line from lower management level up to the Board. Job 

functions and areas of  responsibilities of  certain  employees  are  outlined  in  the  job description  and  authority  charts. 

The Group  practices  an “open-door”  policy that allows matters to be identified and resolved in a timely and efficiently 

manner. The Board and its various Board Committees are all governed by clearly defined terms of references. 

 
• Integrity and Ethical Values 

 
The Group is committed to upholding a strong culture of integrity and ethical values. The Code of Conduct and Ethics for 

Directors (“the Code”) describe the standards of conduct and ethical behavior for Directors in the performance and 

exercise of their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company or when representing the Company. The Group 

strongly believes that the appropriate standards of conduct and ethical behavior are fundamental to the preservation of the 

Company‟s reputation and the success of its operations and to the exercise of their duties and responsibilities as Directors 

of the Company. The Code applies to all Directors and employees, who are required to acknowledge that they have read 

and understood the Code upon commencement of employment. The Code is reviewed as and when necessary to ensure 

it remains current and relevant in addressing any ethical issues that may arise within the organisation.  

 
• Policies and Procedures 

 
Elements of internal control have been embedded and documented in the form of policies and standard operating 

procedures, which provide guidance and direction for proper management and governance of operations and business 

activities of the Group. Continuous reviews are carried out on the adequacy, appropriateness and comprehensiveness of 

standard operating procedures developed to govern the business processes and activities of the Group, to ensure 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to resolve operational deficiencies as well as significant changes and 

development in business and operational environment.  

 
• Strategic Business Direction 

 
The Group‟s business objectives are communicated throughout the organisation through its business plan, management 

meetings and interaction between the Group Chief Executive Officer, management and employees.  

 
• Risk Identification 

 
The Board is fully aware of the principal  risks  faced  by the Company and the Group and has put in place the appropriate 

controls to identify, evaluate and manage these risks through the involvement of the Group Chief Executive Officer in the 

day-to-day operations of the Group. The performance of the Company and the Group is monitored through strategic, 

management and operational level meetings. Significant matters identified during these meetings are highlighted to the 

Board on a timely basis. 

 

Reviews carried out by the ARMC on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems concerning 

operational issues reported by the internal and external auditors and attributable actions taken by management in respect 

of the findings to provide assurance that control procedures are in place and are being followed as intended. 
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STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL (cont‟d) 

 

Reviews carried out by the RMC on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management system and the mitigation 

controls to manage the key risk areas reported by the risk management function to provide assurance that the systems 

are operating as intended in order to manage the overall risk exposures of the Group. Internal control and key risks 

related matters which warranted the attention of the Board were conveyed by the ARMC and RMC to the Board. 

 
• Limits of Authority 

 
The Group has clear limits of authority which defines the approving limits that have been assigned and delegated to each 

approving authority within the Group. The limits of authority will be reviewed from time to time in terms of suitability, 

relevance and applicability with business operations and activities. 

 
• Final Budgeting 

 
Annual budgets are prepared in advance for the following financial year. The budgets are subject to review by the senior 

management  prior to tabling to the Board for approval. Actual performance is reviewed against the budget with detailed 

explanations provided for material  variances. 

 

• Performance Review 

 
Senior management meetings are held to discuss the Group‟s financial  performance, business development, operational 

and corporate issues. Additionally, comprehensive information on financial performance, achievement of key performance 

indicators and progress of key projects are communicated by senior management to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

Meetings involving the Group Chief Executive Officer, senior management and heads of department are regularly held 

and any significant  matters are escalated to the Board. 

 
• Information Technology Management 

 
Comprehensive management information systems exist throughout the Group. Relevant data is captured, compiled, 

analysed and reported. These  systems enable  management  to make decisions in an accurate and timely manner 

towards meeting the business objectives. The Group had undertaken continuous development and improvement on the 

information technology systems and platforms to support the operational efficiency in various operational activities. The 

Group is proactively monitoring and implementing layers of new controls to protect its critical business systems against 

the ever-evolving cyber threat landscape and challenges.  

 

• Internal Audit  Function 

 
The internal audit function of the Group is performed in-house and undertaken by the Internal Audit Department that 

reports to the ARMC. The ARMC  reviews the annual internal audit plan co-developed by the Internal Audit Department 

and the management. Applying a risk-based approach, periodic internal audit visits have been carried out to review the 

adequacy and integrity of key internal controls of the Group‟s business to provide an independent assurance on the 

systems of internal control. The Internal Audit Department reports to the ARMC on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Group‟s governance, risk management and internal control systems. 

 

The  activities of the Internal Audit Department during FY2023 are disclosed in the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee Report included in this Annual Report. 

 

Our internal auditors, have carried out and completed the internal audit review based on the Internal Audit Plan for 

FY2022 approved by the ARMC. The results of the internal audit review were satisfactory, having found no major control 

weaknesses which may pose significant risk exposures to the Group‟s operations during the financial year under review. 

The internal auditors have also carried out subsequent follow up reviews on the agreed action plans, which have been 

commented and agreed by the management to address the relevant findings highlighted in the internal audit reports, and 

noted that most of the agreed action plans have been/are being implemented.  

 

• Whistleblowing Policy 

 
The  Group  has  put in place a Whistleblowing Policy which allows, supports and encourages its employees and third 

parties to report and disclose  any improper or illegal activities within the Group. The Whistleblowing Policy applies to the 

Directors and employees of the Group as part of Group‟s commitment to promote and maintain high standards of 

transparency, accountability and ethics in the conduct of its business and operations, with an established process for 

reporting anyone found to be abusing or circumventing processes and controls of the Group. All staff are accorded the 

opportunity to report via the whistle-blowing mechanism with the assurance that the report will be dealt with confidentially 

and that the reporter‟s identity is protected. There was no report received throughout FY2023 that warranted the 

implementation of the whistleblowing exercise. 
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  STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL (cont‟d) 

 
• Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy 

 
The Group adopts a  zero-tolerance approach to  bribery and  corruption in all its forms. It  is  committed to conducting 

business dealings, relationships and operations free from  any  acts of bribery or corruption in upholding high standards of 

ethics and integrity and to comply with applicable laws and regulatory requirements related to corporate liability in terms of 

anti-bribery and anti-corruption. The Group  has established  an Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy which prohibits all 

forms of  bribery and corruption practices. It is mandatory for all employees to read and understand the policy. All 

business partners including consultants and contractors are required to acknowledge and agree to comply with the 

Group‟s anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy. 

 

• Commitment to Environment, Social and Corporate Governance (“ESG”) 

 
The Group established the Sustainability Committee in May 2023, which is spearheaded by the Group Chief Executive 

Officer and comprises key senior management personnel. The Board is the ultimate authority over the Group‟s 

sustainability strategy and governance, reviewing and approving all sustainability-related policies and initiatives. To further 

enhance the Board‟s oversight of sustainability matters, an Independent Director has been invited to be a member of the 

Sustainability Committee, who will provide further insights on sustainability from the perspective of external stakeholders 

and from a governance standpoint. The Sustainability Committee reports its progress to the Board annually in relation to 

the Group‟s sustainability initiatives and the holistic approach taken to identify and manage the material sustainability 

matters that represent our ESG risks and opportunities. 

 

The ARMC holds regular meetings with management on the actions taken on internal control  issues identified through reports 

prepared by the internal auditors, external auditors and/or management. 

 

The Board  together with the management  will  continuously assess the  suitability, adequacy and effectiveness of the Group‟s  

system of  internal  controls and will  take corrective measures to enhance the system, as and when necessary. 

 

Assurance Provided by the Group Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

 
In  line with the Guidelines, the Group Chief  Executive Officer and Chief  Financial Officer have provided assurance to the 

Board that to the best of their knowledge, the Group‟s risk management and internal control systems have operated adequately 

and effectively, in all material aspects, based on the  Risk  Management Framework  adopted by the Group, to meet the Group‟s 

objectives during the financial year under review. 

 

Review by the External Auditors 

 
The External Auditors have reviewed this Statement pursuant to the scope set out in Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3 

(“AAPG 3”) Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control 

included in the Annual Report issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group 

for the FY 2023, and reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that this 

Statement intended to be included in the Annual Report of the Group, in all material respects : 

 
(a) has not been prepared in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk 

Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers, or 

 
(b) is factually inaccurate. 

 
AAPG 3 does not require the External Auditors to consider whether this Statement covers all risks and controls, or to form an 

opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group‟s risk management and internal control system including the 

assessment and opinion by the Board and Management thereon. The External Auditors are also not required to consider 

whether the processes described to deal with material internal control aspects of any significant problem disclosed in the Annual 

Report will, in fact, remedy the problems. 

 
Conclusion 

 
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system to safeguard 
shareholders‟ investments and the Group‟s assets, and confirms that there is a continuous process in place to identify, evaluate 
and manage the significant risks that may affect the achievement of business objectives. The process which has been instituted 
throughout the Group is updated and reviewed from time to time to suit the changes in the business environment, and this 
ongoing process has been in place for the whole FY2023 and up to the date of issuance of this Annual Report.  

 
This Statement is made in respect of FY2023 and in accordance with a resolution of the Board passed on 21 July 2023.  
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OTHER COMPLIANCE INFORMATION 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Status of utilisation of proceeds from any corporate proposal 

 
The Company did not undertake any fund raising corporate exercise during the financial period. 

 
Audit and Non-audit fees paid to external auditors for the financial year 

 
During FY2023, the amount of audit and non-audit fees paid/payable by the Group and the Company to the external auditors 

and its affiliate for services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries were as follows:  

 
 Group 

(RM) 

Company 

(RM) 

Audit services 152,000 39,000 

Non-Audit services 48,800 9,500 

 

Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

 
The details of the recurrent related party transactions are disclosed under Note 28 of the financial statements in this Annual 
Report. 

 
Material Contracts 

 
Save as disclosed under Note 28 of the financial statements in this Annual Report, there were no material contracts entered into 

by the Company and/or its subsidiaries involving Directors‟ and major shareholders‟ interest which were still subsisting as at the 

end of the financial year or which were entered into since the end of the previous financial year.  
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DIRECTORS‟ REPORT  

 

 

 
 

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. 
 

Principal Activities 

 
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6 to 

the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

 
Subsidiaries  

The details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. 

 
Financial Results 

 

 
Group 

RM 
Company 

RM 

Profit for the financial year attribute to: 
Owners of the Company 
Non-controlling interests 

 
12,098,925 
       33,229 
 
12,132,154 
 

     
  6,304,155 
         - 
 
  6,304,155 
 
 

Reserves and Provisions 

 
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year. 

 

 

Dividends 

 
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company paid:  

(i) a final single-tier dividend of 1 sen per ordinary share totaling RM2,326,476 in respect of the financial year 

ended 31 March 2022 on 28 June 2022.  

(ii) an interim single-tier dividend of 1 sen per ordinary share totalling RM2,326,476 in respect of the financial 

year ended 31 March 2023 on 21 December 2022.  

   On 16 May 2023, the Board of Directors has approved a final single-tier dividend of 1 sen per ordinary share totaling    

   RM2,326,476 for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. The final dividend was paid on 15 June 2023. The final dividend will 

   be accounted for in the shareholders‟ equity as appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 March 2024.  

 

Issue of Shares and Debentures 

 
There was no issuance of shares or debentures during the financial year. 

 

Options Granted Over Unissued Shares 

 
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year. 

 

Directors 

 
The Directors in office during the financial year until the date of this report are: 

 
Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh*      Lee Siok Yee (appointed on 29 August 2022) 
Ng Chin Huat*                         Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan (appointed on 29 August 2022) 
Kong Sau Kian       Collin Tan Chin Yew (appointed on 29 August 2022) 
David Tan Chin Wee (Alternate Director to Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh) Lim Kim Meng (resigned on 29 August 2022) 
 

 
The Directors who held office in the subsidiaries (excluding Directors who are also Directors of the Company) during the 

financial year until the date of this report are: 

 
Lee Yean Fung 

Kok Tai Meng  
                  Wong Hing Ming 
                  

* Director of the Company and its subsidiaries  
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Directors‟ Interests in Shares 

 
The interests and deemed interests in the shares of the Company and of its related corporations (other than wholly-owned 

subsidiaries) of those who were Directors at financial year end (including the interests of the spouses or children of the Directors 

who themselves are not Directors of the Company) according to the Register of Directors‟ Shareholdings are as follows: 

 
Number of ordinary shares 

 At 

1.4.2022 

 
Bought 

 
Sold 

At   

31.3.2023 

Interests in the Company 

Direct interests : 

    

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh 
Ng Chin Huat 

59,000 
1,300,000 

– 
– 

– 
_ 

59,000 
1,300,000 

Indirect interests : 
    

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh (a)
 74,413,172 – – 74,413,172 

Ng Chin Huat (b)
 77,114,954 – – 77,114,954 

Notes: 
    

 
(a)

 Deemed interest by virtue of his interests held in Trackland Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016. 

 
(b) Deemed interest by virtue of his interests held in Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016. 

 
By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Ng Chin Huat and Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh are also deemed interested 

in the shares of the subsidiaries during the financial year to the extent that the Company has an interest.  

 
None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares of the Company and of its related 

corporations during the financial year. 

 
The interests and deemed interests in the shares of the Company and of its related corporations of those who were Directors of 

the subsidiaries of the Company at financial year end as recorded in the Register of Directors‟ Shareholdings are as follows:  

 
Number of ordinary shares 

 At 

1.4.2022 

 
Bought 

 
Sold 

At 

31.3.2023 

Interests in the Company 

Direct interests : 

    

 Kok Tai Meng 300,000 – – 300,000 

Lee Yean Fung 600,000 – – 600,000 

 
Directors‟ Benefits 

    

 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to receive any benefit 

(other than those fees and other benefits included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received or due and receivable by 

Directors or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or of related corporations as disclosed in Note 28 to the 

financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of 

which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest other than Directors 

who have significant financial interests in companies which traded with certain companies in the Group in the ordinary course of 

business as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements. 

 
There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling Directors of the 

Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares of the Company or any other body corporate.  
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Indemnity and Insurance Costs 

 
During the financial year, Directors and officers of Asia Brands Berhad, together with its subsidiaries, are covered under the 

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of liabilities arising from acts committed in their respective capacity as, inter 

alia, Directors and Officers of the Group subject to the terms of the policy. The total amount of Directors and Officers Liability 

Insurance effected for the Directors and officers of the Group was RM3,000,000. The total amount of premium paid for the 

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance by the Group was RM9,921.  

 
There was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for the auditors of the Company. 

 
 

Other Statutory Information 

 
(a) Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the Directors  took  reasonable steps to 

ascertain that: 

 
(i) all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and 

 
(ii) any current  assets which were unlikely to be  realised in the ordinary course of  business  have been written down 

to an amount which they might be expected so to realise. 

 
(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances: 

 
(i) that would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the Group 

and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or 

 
(ii) that would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company misleading, or 

 
(iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group 

and of the Company misleading or inappropriate, or 

 
(iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or in the financial statements that would render any amount stated in the 

financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading. 

 
(c) At the date of this report, there does not exist: 

 
(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and 

which secures the liabilities of any other person; or 

 
(ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year. 

 
(d) In the opinion of the Directors: 

 
(i) no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 

twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company 
to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; 
 

(ii) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially affected 
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and 
 

(iii) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 

 
Significant Event During The Financial Year 

 

Subsequent event is disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements. 

 

 

Auditor‟s Remuneration 

 

The details of auditor‟s remuneration are set out in Note 24 to the financial statements. 
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Auditors 

 
The auditors, Messrs Reanda LLKG International, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 21 July 2023. 

 
 
 
 

 
NG CHIN HUAT KONG SAU KIAN 

 
 

KUALA LUMPUR 
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STATUTORY DECLARATION 
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016 

 
 

 
In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 55 to 104 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in 
Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 March 2023 and of 
their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended. 

 
              Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 21 July 2023. 

 
 
 
 

 
NG CHIN HUAT KONG SAU KIAN 

 
 

KUALA LUMPUR 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
I, Kok Tai Meng (MIA Membership No. CA30027), being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Asia 
Brands Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements set out on 
pages 55 to 104 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the 
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960. 

 
 

Subscribed and solemnly declared by ) 

the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the ) 

Federal Territory on  21 July 2023 ) 
 

KOK TAI MENG 

 
 

Before me, 

 
 
 
 
 

 AMIR BIN ISMAIL (NO. W800)    

Commissioner for Oaths 

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS 
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Asia Brands Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 March 
2023 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 55 to 104. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 

Company as at 31 March 2023, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year then ended in 

accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 

the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

 

 
Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 

 
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities 

 
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) 
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws‟) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants‟ International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code. 

 
Key Audit Matters 

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 

Impairment assessment on goodwill and trademarks 

 
Please refer to Note 2(d) for Significant Accounting Judgements, 

Estimates and Assumptions, Note 3(f ) for accounting policies of 

intangible assets and Note 7 for Intangible Assets.  
 
The carrying values of goodwill and trademarks of the Group as at 

31 March 2023 are RM26.7 million and RM131.0 million 

respectively. 

 
Goodwill and trademarks with indefinite life are subject to annual 

impairment testing. We focused on these areas as the 

determination of recoverable amounts of cash-generating-

unit based on value-in-use calculations by management 

involved a significant degree of judgement and assumptions. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others: 

 
• Assessed reliability of management‟s forecast through 

the review of past trends of actual financial 

performances against previous forecasted results; 

 
• Assessed key assumptions on which the cash flow 

projections are based, by amongst others, comparing 

them against business plans, historical results and 

market data; 

 
• Evaluated appropriateness of discount rate used to 

determine present value of cash flows and whether the 

rate used reflects current market assessments of time 

value of money and risks specific to the asset; 

 
• Performed sensitivity analysis on key assumptions to 

evaluate impact on the impairment assessment; and 

 
• Assessed adequacy and reasonableness of disclosures 

in the financial statements. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS‟ REPORT 
To the Members of Asia Brands Berhad (Registration No.: 197501000740 (22414-V)) (Incorporated in Malaysia) 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‟D) 

 
Key Audit Matters (Cont‟d) 

 

Key audit matters (Cont‟d) How our audit addressed the key audit matters (Cont‟d) 

Inventories valuation 

 
The carrying amount of finished goods of the Group as at 31 

March 2023 is RM74.5 million. As described in the accounting 

policies in Note 3(g) to the financial statements, inventories 

are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Assessing valuation of inventories is an area of significant 

judgment as there is a risk in estimating the net realisable 

value of the inventories, as well as assessing which items 

may be slow-moving or obsolete. 

 
Due to the significance of inventories and the corresponding 

uncertainty inherent in such an estimate, we considered this as a 

key audit matter. 

 
Please refer to Note 2(d) for Significant Accounting Judgements, 

Estimates and Assumptions and the disclosures of inventories in 

Note 9 to the financial statements.  

Our audit procedures included, amongst others: 

 
• Reviewed historical ageing of inventories; 

 
• Checked effectiveness of controls associated with 

existence and condition of inventories by attending 

inventory counts at financial year end in selected 

locations; 

 

• Identified and assessed a sample of aged and obsolete 
inventories; 

 
• Analysed level of slow-moving inventories and the 

associated provision; 

 
• Tested expected volume and price of future sales of 

inventories by reviewing price of a sample of 

inventories sold after the reporting date; 

 
• Reviewed historical accuracy of inventory provisioning 

and level of inventory write-offs during the financial 

year; and 

 
• Assessed adequacy and reasonableness of disclosures 

in the financial statements. 

Recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

 
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had recognised right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities for leases of Group with carrying 

amounts of RM15.5 million and RM15.7 million respectively. 

 
We determined this to be a key audit matter because it 

requires management to exercise significant judgements for 

specific assumptions applied in determining right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities. The specific assumptions include 

the determination of appropriate discount rates and 

assessment of lease terms, including renewal and termination 

options of the leases.  

 
Please refer to Note 3(e) for accounting policies of leases, 

Note 5 for Right-of-use Assets and Note 15 for Lease 

Liabilities. 

 
 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others: 

 
• Obtained an understanding of design and 

implementation of key controls pertaining to recognition 

of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities;  

 
• Assessed appropriateness of the discount rates applied 

in determining lease liabilities based on the lease 

contracts and relevant inputs; 

 
• Assessed appropriateness of the assumptions applied in 

determining the lease terms of the lease liabilities, 
including renewal and termination options of the leases; 
and 

 
•  Verified the accuracy of the underlying lease data  

by agreeing a representative sample of leases to 
original contracts or other supporting information. 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‟D) 

 
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors‟ Report Thereon 

 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors‟ 

report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the 

Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 

 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group‟s 

and the Company‟s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

 
Auditors‟ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors‟ report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 

exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentation, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group‟s and of the 

Company‟s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Directors.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent Auditors‟ Report (Cont‟d) 
To the Members of Asia Brands Berhad (Registration No.: 197501000740 (22414-V)) (Incorporated in Malaysia) 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‟D) 
 

Auditors‟ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont‟d) 

 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors‟ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Group‟s or the Company‟s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditors‟ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and 

of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors‟ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the 

Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  
 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

 
From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditors‟ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,  in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
 

Other Matter 

 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report. 

 
 
 
 
 

REANDA LLKG INTERNATIONAL 

Firm Number: AF 1082 

Chartered Accountant 

 
 
 
 
 

LAI WONG CHUNG 

Approved Number: 03277/08/2024 J 

Chartered Accountant 

 
 

KUALA LUMPUR 

21 July 2023 
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Group Company 

 
Note 

2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

 
ASSETS 

Non-Current Assets 
Plant and equipment 

 
 

4 

 
 

10,961,036 

 
 

10,544,745 

 
 

– 

 
 

– 

Right-of-use assets 5 15,523,878 10,543,092 – – 

Investments in subsidiaries 6 – – 251,285,067 251,285,067 

Intangible assets 7 157,704,868 157,704,868 – – 

Deferred tax assets 8   4,227,000   6,347,000 – – 

  
188,416,782   185,139,705 251,285,067 251,285,067 

 
Current Assets 
Inventories 

 

 
9 

 

 
74,513,071 

 

 
53,397,674 

 

 
– 

 

 
– 

Trade receivables 10 26,724,535 25,767,958   – – 

Other receivables 11 4,703,078 4,240,495 1,500 1,500 

Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 – – – 512 

Tax recoverable 
Deposits with a licensed bank 

       11,941 
– 

      10,296 
540,470 

– 
– 

16 
– 

Cash and bank balances 13 13,887,188 15,811,480 166,702 3,157 

  
    119,839,813 99,768,373    168,202 5,185 

Total Assets 
 

  308,256,595 284,908,078 251,453,269 251,290,252 

 
EQUITY 
Share capital 

 

 
14 

 

 
198,278,656 

 

 
198,278,656 

 

 
198,278,656 

 

 
 198,278,656 

Retained earnings   36,667,729 29,221,756 47,080,160 45,428,957 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 
 

234,946,385 227,500,412 245,358,816 243,707,613 

Non-controlling interests 
 

         51,973 18,744 – – 

Total Equity 
 

234,998,358 227,519,156 245,358,816 243,707,613 

 
LIABILITIES 
Non–Current Liabilities 
Lease liabilities                                                                                                                                             

 
 
 
 15 

 
 

 
10,396,147 

 
 

 
5,802,509 

 
 

 
– 

 
 

 
– 

Hire purchase liabilities   16    148,372          209,727 – – 
Islamic medium term notes  17                 – 10,000,000 – – 

Term Loan 
Deferred tax liabilities 

18 
8 

8,750,000 
69,000 

– 
30,000 

– – 

  
19,363,519 16,042,236 – – 

 
Current Liabilities 
Trade payables 

 

 
19 

 

 
      22,625,847 

 

 
      15,225,078 

 

 
– 

 

 
– 

Other payables 20       10,126,754       7,323,588 211,653 363,037 

Amounts due to subsidiaries 

Lease liabilities 
Hire purchase liabilities 

  12 

  15 
 16 

–  

       5,338,356 

          140,756 

– 

      4,946,104 

         105,547                            

5,882,800 
– 
– 

7,219,602 
– 
– 

Islamic medium term notes 17                       – 10,000,000 – – 

Term Loan 
Bank borrowings 

18 
21 

       1,250,000 
     14,194,814 

– 
3,345,000 

– 
– 

– 
– 

Tax payable   218,191 401,369 – – 

  
53,894,718 41,346,686 6,094,453 7,582,639 

Total Liabilities 
 

73,258,237 57,388,922 6,094,453 7,582,639 

Total Equity and Liabilities 
 

308,256,595 284,908,078 251,453,269 251,290,252 

     The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 March 2023 
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2023 

Group 

2022 
 

2023 

Company 

2022 

Note RM RM RM RM 

Revenue 22     184,554,329          162,230,373  6,053,000 12,337,000 

Cost of sales  (75,685,854)    (67,620,654) –                             – 

 
Gross profit 

  
    108,868,475 

 
           94,609,719 

 
6,053,000 

 
12,337,000 

Other income          1,022,710              1,163,906 – – 

Selling and distribution expenses      (86,908,798)          (69,351,638) – – 

Administrative expenses        (4,612,247)            (3,614,639) (503,554) (450,712) 

Net gain on impairment              

of financial instruments  –                  441,414 754,709 265,753 

 
Profit from operations 

  
18,370,140 

 
    23,248,762 

 
6,304,155 

 
12,152,041 

Finance costs   (2,142,667) (2,460,222) – – 

Profit before tax 
 

      16,227,473            20,788,540 6,304,155 12,152,041 

Taxation 23 (4,095,319) (5,166,304) – – 

Profit for the financial year representing total 

comprehensive income 

for the financial year 

 

 
24 

 

 
      12,132,154 

 

 
        15,622,236 

 

 
6,304,155 

 

 
12,152,041 

Profit for the financial year representing total 

comprehensive income 

for the financial year attributable to: 

     

Owners of the Company 
Non-controlling interests 
 
 

       12,098,925 
             33,229 
 
 
      12,132,154 
 

     15,603,541 
18,695 

 
 

15,622,236 

6,304,155 
– 

 
 

6,304,155 

12,152,041 
– 

 
 

12,152,041 

 

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen): 25 5.20 6.71 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2023 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2023 
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Group Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 

  
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 

Profit  before tax 16,227,473 20,788,540      6,304,155        12,152,041 

Adjustments for: 

Bad debts written off on: 

- Trade receivables           –                    57,842 – – 

Bad debts recovered      (8,790)                – – – 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  2,052,728  1,886,333 – – 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  5,893,369             6,213,036 – – 

Fair value gain on short term investments   (472,422)              (96,734) – –  

  Interest expense  2,142,667 2,460,222  –  – 

Inventories written down                                                               693,721            1,122,878 – – 

Inventories written off                                                                 1,552,847            3,042,678 – – 

Plant and equipment written off                                                        8,740     75,945 – – 

Covid-19 related rent concessions                                                        –               (735,207) – –  

Dividend Income  –   –             (6,053,000)     (12,337,000) 

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (59,335)                           – – – 

Gain on lease modification   (12,496)  (33,751) –          –

Interest income   (44,321)            (217,005)                         –                          – 

Reversal of impairment loss on: 

- Trade receivables            –               (441,414) – – 

- Amount due from subsidiaries  –  –  (754,709)          (265,753) 

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 27,974,181 34,123,363 (503,554)            (450,712) 

Changes in working capital:  

Inventories 
Receivables 

Payables  
 

                                                                                                                  (17,084,185)   2,243,184   (151,384)     179,140 

                 Cash generated from/(used in) operations                                   10,889,996           36,366,547            (654,938)              (271,572) 
 

 
Interest paid 

Tax (paid)/ 

refund       

  (4,263,809)     (3,329,782)                           16                    284 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities   6,626,187 33,036,765 (654,922) (271,288) 
 

 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities 

 

Net  repayments from  subsidiaries – – 286,227               294,531 

Interest  received      44,321  217,005 –          – 

Dividend received     –   –              6,053,000         12,337,000 

Acquisition of plant and equipment                                             (2,477,759) (1,276,890) –   –  

Acquisition of right-of-use assets    (15,738)               – –   – 

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiaries                        –                            –                          –                        (1) 

Net redemptions of short term investments                                     472,422              12,007,701 –   – 

Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets     100,000               – –   – 

Uplift / (Placement) of deposits with tenure more 

more than 3 months                540,470   (540,470) –   –                     

–                           –                           –                           

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (1,336,284)          10,407,346 6,339,227     2,631,530 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2023 

–                     

284 

     (2,460,222) 

       (869,560) 

(2,142,667)                       
(2,121,142) 

              - 

                     - 

          179,140 
 

              - 

                     - 

       (151,384) 
 

 1,166,005 

          (601,561) 

         1,678,740 

 

(23,361,965) 

        (1,410,370) 

          7,688,150 

                     – 

                   16 

Additional investment in subsidiary

 
 Additional investment in subsidiary 

(10,000,000) – –               – 
 

Note 
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  Group  Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 
 Note RM RM RM RM 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
     

Changes in bank balance pledged  (1,374,900)      1,042 – – 

Dividends paid to owners of the Company 
Net advances from/(repayment to) a related party 

       27 (4,652,952) 
 2,515,785 

   (2,326,476)                                                                       
-  (2,720,360) 

(4,652,952) 
– 

(2,326,476) 
– 

Net repayment to subsidiaries  –                        – (867,808) (34,589) 

Drawdown of term loan 
Repayment of Islamic medium term notes 

 10,000,000 
(20,000,000) 

– 
 (10,000,000) 

– 
– 

– 
– 

Payment of lease liabilities  (5,675,696)    (5,228,092) – – 

Payment of hire purchase liabilities          (251,146)       (100,945) – – 

Net changes in bankers‟ acceptance  10,849,814  (9,498,000) – – 

Net cash used in financing activities 
 

(8,589,095) (29,872,831) (5,520,760) (2,361,065) 

 
Changes in cash and cash equivalents 

  
(3,299,192) 

 
13,571,280 

 
163,545 

 
                (823) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of      

the financial year  15,811,380 2,240,100 3,157 3,980 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
     

the financial year  12,512,188 15,811,380 166,702 3,157 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

     

financial year comprise:     

Cash and bank balances 13,887,188 15,811,480 166,702 3,157 

Less: Bank balance pledged for credit facilities (1,375,000) (100) – – 

 
12,512,188 15,811,380 166,702 3,157 

Cash Outflows For Leases As A Lessee 

Included in net cash from operating activities: 

Payment relating to short term leases 24 

 
 
 

 
2,913,912 

 
 
 

 
2,528,551 

 
 
 

 
– 

 
 
 

 
– 

Payment relating to variable lease     

payments not included in measurement     

of lease liabilities 24 1,585,221 881,746 – – 

Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities                    24 
Interest paid in relation to hire 
   purchase liabilities                                                  24 

693,922 
 

14,686 

653,059 
 

15,732 

– 
 

– 

– 
 

– 

 

Included in net cash from financing activities: 

    

Payment of lease liabilities 
Payment of hire purchase liabilities 
 

5,675,696 
   251,146 

5,228,092 
100,945 

– 
– 

– 
– 

Total cash outflows for leases  11,134,583 9,408,125 – – 

 
    Significant non-cash transaction 
 
    The significant non-cash transaction of the Company during the financial year 2023 is debt assignment 
    of RM468,994 between amount due from a subsidiary and amount due to subsidiaries. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Statements of Cash Flows (Cont‟d) 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2023 
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1. Corporate Information 

 
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa 

Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

 
The principal place of business and registered office of the Company are located at Lot 10449, Jalan Nenas, Batu 4½, 

Kampung Jawa, 41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan.  

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group" and individually referred to as "Group entities"). The 
financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 do not include other entities. 

 
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of  the  subsidiaries are disclosed in  Note 6.  

 
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 July 2023. 

 
2. Basis of Preparation 

 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 

 
The following are accounting standards and amendments of the MFRSs that have been issued by the Malaysian 

Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted by the Group and the Company:  

 
Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or after 

            

 

                                             

 
                                            

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2023 
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2. Basis of Preparation (Cont‟d) 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (Cont‟d) 

 
The Group and the Company intend to adopt the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments, if 

applicable, when they become effective. 

 
The initial application of the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments are not expected to have any 

material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of the Group and the Company. 

 
(b) Basis of measurement 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 3. 

 
(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company‟s functional currency. 

All financial information is presented in RM.  

 
(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.  

 
There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 

have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than those disclosed below: 

 
Extension options and incremental borrowing rate in relation to leases (Note 5) 

 
The Group assesses at lease commencement by applying significant judgement whether it is reasonably certain to 

exercise the extension options. Group entities consider all facts and circumstances including their past practice and 

any cost that will be incurred to change the asset if an option to extend is not taken, to help them determine the 

lease term.  

 
The Group also applied judgement and assumptions in determining the incremental borrowing rate of the respective 

leases. Group entities first determine the closest available borrowing rates before using significant judgement to 

determine the adjustments required to reflect the term, security, value or economic environment of the respective 

leases. 

 
Impairment of goodwill and trademarks (Note 7) 

 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill and trademarks have suffered any impairment. When value in use 
calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and 
chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The preparation of the 
estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and estimations. While the Group believes that the 
assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the 
assessment of recoverable amounts and may lead to future impairment losses. 

 
Deferred tax assets (Note 8) 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused 

tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant 

management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based 

upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits. 
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2. Basis of Preparation (Cont‟d) 

 
(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont‟d) 

 
Inventories valuation (Note 9) 

 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group estimates the net realisable value 

of inventories based on an assessment of expected sales prices. Demand levels and pricing competition could 

change from time to time. If such factors result in an adverse effect on the Group‟s products, the Group might be 

required to reduce the value of its inventories. 

 

Measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”) (Note 31(b)(i)) 

 
The Group uses the simplified approach to estimate a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade 

receivables. The Group develops the expected loss rates based on historical credit losses and adjusts for qualitative 

and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.  

 
Other than trade receivables, the Group and the Company assess the credit risk of other receivables at each 

reporting date on an individual basis, to determine whether or not there have been significant increases in credit risk 

since the initial recognition of these assets. To determine whether there is a significant increase in credit risks, the 

Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of 

the debtors and default or significant delay in payments. Where there is a significant increase in credit risk, the 

Group and the Company determine the lifetime expected credit loss by considering the loss given default and the 

probability of default assigned to each counterparty customer. 

 
In assessing credit risks for purposes of applying the ECL model, the Group considers the need to incorporate 

forward-looking factors and to estimate the probability of default, which are likely to be judgmental and subject to 

estimation uncertainties.  

 
 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial statements 
and have been applied consistently by Group entities, unless otherwise stated. 
 

 
(a) Basis of consolidation 

 
(i) Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial statements of 

subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases.  

 
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights are 

considered when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. The Group also considers it has de 

facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, it has the current ability to 

direct the activities of the investee that significantly affect the investee‟s return.  

 
Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company‟s statement of financial position at cost less any 

impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The cost of investment 

includes transaction costs.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont‟d) 

 
(ii) Business combinations 

 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, which is the 

date on which control is transferred to the Group. 

 
For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 
• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

 
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the 

acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree‟s identifiable net assets at the 

acquisition date. 

 
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in 

connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 

 
(iii) Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

 
The Group accounts for all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 

control as equity transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. Any difference 

between the Group's share of net assets before and after the change, and any consideration received or paid, 

is adjusted to or against Group reserves. 

 
(iv) Loss of control 

 
Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former 

subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former subsidiary 

from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 

recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is 

measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity accounted 

investee or as a financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 

 
(v) Non-controlling interests 

 
Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable 

directly or indirectly to the equity holders of the Company, are presented in the consolidated statement of 

financial position and statement of changes in equity within equity, separately from equity attributable to the 

owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and the 

comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and owners of the Company. 

 
Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests 

even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance. 

 
(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates and joint ventures are eliminated 

against the investment to the extent of the Group‟s interest in the investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated 

in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  

 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated 

to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 

 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the end of the 

reporting date, except for those that are measured at fair value which are retranslated to the functional currency at 

the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 

 
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising 

on the retranslation of equity instruments where they are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income or a financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, which are recognised in other comprehensive 

income. 

 
In the consolidated financial statements, when settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign 
operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising 
from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised 
in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the foreign currency translation reserve (" FCTR ") in equity. 

 
(c) Financial instruments 

 
(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 

Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) or a financial liability 

is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issuance. A trade receivable without a significant 

financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.  

 
(ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified subsequent to their 

initial recognition unless the Group or the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets 

in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following 

the change of the business model. 

 
a) Amortised cost 

 
Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model whose 

objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method.The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 

and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount except for 

credit impaired financial assets (see Note 3(i)(i)) where the effective interest rate is applied to the 

amortised cost. 
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 3.  Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(c) Financial instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(ii) Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (Cont‟d) 

Financial assets (Cont‟d) 

b) Fair value through profit or loss 

 
All financial assets not measured at amortised cost described above are measured at fair value through 

profit or loss. This includes derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a designated and 

effective hedging instrument). On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably 

designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as 

at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch 

that would otherwise arise. 

 
Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at their fair 

value. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in the profit or loss.  

 
All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to impairment 

assessment (see Note 3(i)(i)).  

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows: 

 
Amortised cost 

 
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 

expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Any gains or losses on 

derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.  

 
(iii) Financial guarantee contracts 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with 

the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.  

 

Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at higher of: 

 
• the amount of the loss allowance; and 

 
• the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 

accordance to the principles of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

 
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are presented together with other provisions. 

 
(iv) Derecognition 

 
A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the financial asset expire or transferred, or control of the asset is not retained or substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to another party. On derecognition of a 

financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the sum of consideration 

received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract 

is discharged, cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also derecognised when its terms are modified and 

the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case, a new financial liability based 

on modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between 

the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration 

paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(c) Financial instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(v) Offsetting 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group or the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off 

the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and liability 

simultaneously. 

 
(d) Plant and equipment 

 
(i) Recognition and measurement 

 
Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  

 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any other costs 

directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling 

and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets 

also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in 

accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. Cost also may include transfers from equity of any 

gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of plant and equipment. 

 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment. 

 
When significant parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

 
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 

disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and is recognised net in profit or loss. 

 
(ii) Subsequent costs 

 
The cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 

the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the 

Group or the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
(iii) Depreciation 

 
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual 

assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, 

then that component is depreciated separately. 

 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of plant and equipment from the date that they are available for use.  

 
Plant and equipment are depreciated based on the principal annual rates as follows:  

Computer equipment 30% 

Display counters 10% 

Office equipment 10% 

Renovation 20% 

Motor vehicles 20% 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at end of the reporting period, and 

adjusted as appropriate. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(e) Leases 

 

 
(i) Definition of a lease 

 
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a 

period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the 

use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: 

 
• the contract involves the use of an identified asset - this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and 

should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If 

the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified; 

 
• the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 

throughout the period of use; and 

 
• the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer has this right when it has the 

decision- making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. 

In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, 

the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset if either the customer has the right to operate 

the asset; or the customer designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it 

will be used. 

 
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 

consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 

prices. However, for leases of properties in which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate non-

lease components and will instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 

component. 

 
(ii) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
(a) As a lessee 

 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 

right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 

adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 

incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 

underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.  

 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 

the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 

readily determined, the respective Group entities‟ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group 

entities use their incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 
• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentives receivable; 

 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date; 
 

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 

 
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise; and 

 
• penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate 

early. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(e) Leases (Cont‟d) 
 

 
(ii) Recognition and initial measurement (Cont‟d) 

 
(a) As a lessee (Cont‟d) 

 
The Group excludes variable lease payments that linked to future performance or usage of the 

underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which the performance or use occurs. 

 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 

that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises the 

lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

 
(b) As a lessor 

 
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an 

operating lease. 

 
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the 

case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease.  

 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies MFRS 15 to allocate the 

consideration in the contract based on the stand-alone selling prices. 

 
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 

sublease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sublease with reference to the right-of-use 

asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term 

lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sublease as an 

operating lease.  

 
(iii) Subsequent measurement 

 
(a) As a lessee 

 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the 

lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those 

of plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, 

if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 

when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 

revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the 

amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its 

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 

 
When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 

the right- of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 

been reduced to zero. 
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            (e)     Leases (Cont‟d) 

 

     (iii)    Subsequent measurement (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) As a lessor 

 
The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term.  

 
 

(f)         Intangible assets 

 
(i) Goodwill 

 
Goodwill arises on business combinations is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
(ii) Other intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are 

measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 
(iii) Subsequent expenditure 

 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 

specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill 

and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
(iv) Amortisation 

 
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment 

annually and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired. 

 
Other intangible assets are amortised from the date that they are available for use. Amortisation is based on 

the cost of an asset less its residual value. Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. 

 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

adjusted, if appropriate. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(g)     Inventories 

 
Finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

 
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and comprises the purchase price and incidental costs incurred 

in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.  

 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

 
(h)     Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid investments 

which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original maturities of three months or less, and are used 

by the Group and the Company in the management of their short term commitments. For the purpose of the 

statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts. 

 
(i)      Impairment 

 
(i)      Financial assets 

 
The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets 

measured at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.  

 
The Group and the Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss 

except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date, cash and bank 

balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 

which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss allowances for trade receivables are always 

measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss. 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company consider reasonable and 

supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 

quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group‟s and the Company‟s historical 

experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, where available. 

 
Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over 

the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses 

that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The maximum 

period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the 

Group and the Company is exposed to credit risk. 

 
The Group and the Company estimates the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a provision 

matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience. 

 
An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in profit or loss 

and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

 
At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 

are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  

 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent that there is no 

realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group and the Company determine that the 

debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 

amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 

enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group‟s and the Company‟s procedures for recovery of 

amounts due.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(i) Impairment (Cont‟d) 

 
(ii) Other assets 

 
The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories, contract assets and deferred tax assets) are 

reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 

such indication exists, then the asset‟s recoverable amount is estimated.  

 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 

cash-generating units. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill impairment 

testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which 

impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting 

purposes. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated 

to a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the combination.  

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre- tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit. 

 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-

generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-

generating unit (group of cash- generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets 

in the cash-generating unit (groups of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis. 

 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 

recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the loss 

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss 

is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are 

recognised. 

 
(j)      Equity instruments 

 
Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured subsequently. 

 
(i)      Issue expenses 

 
Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from 
equity. 

 
(ii)     Ordinary shares 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(k)     Employee benefits 

 
(i)      Short-term employee benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and sick leave are 

measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if 

the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 
(ii)     Defined contribution plans 

 
The Group‟s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the financial year to which 

they relate.  

 
(l)      Provisions 

 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that 

can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.The unwinding of the 

discount is recognised as finance cost. 

 
(m)    Revenue and other income 

 
(i)      Revenue from contracts with customers 

 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer in exchange for 

transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The 

Group and the Company recognise revenue when (or as) it transfers control over a product or service to 

customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of the asset. 

 
The Group or the Company transfers control of a good or service at a point in time unless one of the following 

overtime criteria is met: 

 
• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the Group or the Company 

performs; 
 

• the  Group‟s or the Company‟s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 
asset is created or enhanced; or 

 
• the  Group‟s or the Company‟s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the Group or 

the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 

When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue is 

recognized upon the transferring goods or services to customer and is the net amount of commission made by 

the Group. 

   
(ii)     Rental income 

 
Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 

incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income over the term of the lease. 

 
(iii)    Interest income 

 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss except for 

interest income arising from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically for the purpose of 

obtaining a qualifying asset which is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing 

costs. 

 

(iv)    Dividend  income 
 
 Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group‟s or the Company‟s right to received 
 payment is established. 
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(v)     Income from money market fund 

 

   Income from money market fund is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  
 

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(n)     Borrowing costs 

 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 

recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method 

 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as 

part of the cost of those assets. 

 
The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the 

asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for 

its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or 

completed. 

 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.  

 
(o)     Income tax 

 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly in equity or other 

comprehensive income. 

 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous financial years. 

 
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred tax is not 

recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets 

or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit 

or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 

they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of 

the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.  

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 

assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 

tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities 

will be realised simultaneously. 

 
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 

and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 
(p)     Earnings per ordinary share 

 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares (“EPS”). 

 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 

 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Cont‟d) 

 
(q)     Operating segments 

 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group‟s 

other components. Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, which 

in this case is the Group Managing Director of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

 
(r)      Contingencies 

 
(i)      Contingent liabilities 

 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is disclosed as a 

contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are 

also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

 
(ii)     Contingent assets 

 
When an inflow of economic benefit of an asset is probable where it arises from past events and where 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 

not wholly within the control of the entity, the asset is not recognised in the statements of financial position but 

is being disclosed as a contingent asset. When the inflow of economic benefit is virtually certain, then the 

related asset is recognised. 

 
(s)     Fair value measurement 

 
Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for lease transactions, is determined as the price that would be received 

to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 

either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.  

 
For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant‟s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. 

Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used in the valuation 

technique as follows: 

 
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access 

at the measurement date. 

 
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. 

 
Level 3:      unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or change in 

circumstances that caused the transfers.  
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4. Plant and Equipment 

 
Computer 

Equipment 

Display 

Counters 

Office 

Equipment 
 

Renovation 

Motor 

Vehicles 
 

Total 

Group                                                  RM 
2023 
Cost  

RM RM RM RM RM 

At 1 April 2022 1,505,069 31,279,418 357,604 4,032,898 201,007 37,375,996 

Additions  102,382 2,369,833 1,794 3,750                  – 2,477,759 

Written off                                                  – 
                                                  

(18,471) 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– (18,471) 
 

At 31 March 2023 1,607,451 33,630,780 359,398 4,036,648 201,007 39,835,284 

 
Accumulated depreciation 

 

      

At 1 April 2022 1,412,859 21,001,515 245,903 3,982,864 188,110 26,831,251 

Charge for the financial year 68,446 1,927,420 34,589 17,167 5,106 2,052,728 

Written off 
 

– (9,731) 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– 
 

(9,731) 
 

At 31 March 2023 1,481,305 22,919,204 280,492 4,000,031 193,216 28,874,248 

 
Carrying amount 

At 31 March 2023 

 

 
126,146 

 

 
10,711,576 

 

 
78,906 

 

 
36,617 

 

 
7,791 

 

 
10,961,036 
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4. Plant and Equipment (Cont‟d)  

 

Computer 
Equipment 

 
 

Display 
Counters 

 
 

Office 
Equipment 

 
 
 

Renovation 

 
 

Motor 
Vehicles 

 
 
 

Total 
 Group RM RM RM RM RM RM 
 2022       

 Cost       

 At 1 April 2021 1,474,250 30,125,211 352,142        4,032,898 201,007 36,185,508 
 Additions 32,439 1,238,989 5,462   – – 1,276,890 

 Written off 
 

       (1,620) (84,782)                      – – – (86,402) 

 
At 31 March 2022 1,505,069 31,279,418 357,604 4,032,898 201,007 37,375,996 

  
Accumulated depreciation 

      

 At 1 April 2021 1,365,080 19,229,907 211,374 3,966,010 183,004 24,955,375 
 Charge for the financial year 48,548 1,781,296 34,529   16,854 5,106 1,886,333 

 Written off 
 

            (769) (9,688)                     – 
                     

            – 
             

 – 
 

(10,457) 

 
At 31 March 2022 1,412,859 21,001,515 245,903 3,982,864 188,110 26,831,251 

  
Carrying amount 

      

 At 31 March 2022 92,210 10,277,903 111,701 50,034 12,897 10,544,745 

 
5. Right-of-use Assets  

 
 

Buildings 

 
 

Motor 

vehicles 

 
 
 

Total 

Group RM RM RM 

Cost    

At 1 April 2021 25,040,317 741,575 25,781,892 

           Additions 
           Modification 
             

4,912,450 
(789,499) 

– 
– 

4,912,450 
(789,499) 

At 31 March 2022 / 1 April 2022 29,163,268 741,575 29,904,843 

Additions 
Modification 
Disposals 
 

8,989,445 
1,684,637 

– 

240,738 
– 

(348,555) 

9,230,183 
1,684,637 
(348,555) 

At 31 March 2023 39,837,350 633,758 40,471,108 

 
Accumulated depreciation 

   

At 1 April 2021 12,812,647 336,068 13,148,715 

Depreciation for the financial year 6,064,721 148,315 6,213,036 

At 31 March 2022 / 1 April 2022 18,877,368 484,383 19,361,751 

Depreciation for the financial year 
Disposal 
 

5,749,190 
– 

144,179 
(307,890) 

5,893,369 
(307,890) 

    
At 31 March 2023 24,626,558 320,672 24,947,230 

 
Carrying amount 

   

At 31 March 2022 10,285,900 257,192 10,543,092 

 
Carrying amount 

   

At 31 March 2023 15,210,792 313,086 15,523,878 
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5. Right-of-use Assets (Cont‟d) 

 
The Group leases its retail stores, warehouse and office building. The leases typically run for a period of two to three 

years, with an option to renew the lease after that dates. 

 

During the financial year, the Group acquired motor vehicle with an aggregate cost of RM240,738(2022: Nil) by means of 

hire purchase. The cash outflow on the acquisition amounted to RM15,738 (2022: Nil). 

 
 

6. Investments in Subsidiaries 
Company 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
Unquoted shares, at cost 327,098,150 317,098,150 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (75,813,083)       (75,813,083) 

  251,285,067 241,285,067 
 

 
Movements in allowances for impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries are as follows: 

 
Company 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
At 1 April / At 31 March 75,813,083  75,813,083 

                                               
 

 
During the previous financial year, the Company: 

 

a) subscribed for 10,000,000 ordinary shares in AKSB at RM1.00 per ordinary share for a total cash consideration 

  of RM10,000,000.  

b) acquired 100% equity in BPSB, comprising 2 ordinary shares for a cash consideration of RM1 from AKSB.  

  Consequently, BPSB became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. 

 

During the financial year, the Company conducted a review of the recoverable amounts of its investments in subsidiaries 

and the review concluded that no further impairment was required as the recoverable amounts were higher than the 

carrying value. 

 

Investments in subsidiaries at carrying amount of Nil (2022: RM229,300,000) were pledged as security for credit facilities 

granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 17.  

 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

 
 Principal place of business/ Effective ownership  

Country of interest and  

Name of company incorporation voting interest Principal activities 

2023 2022 

% % 

Direct holding: 

Diesel Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia   100     100  Dormant. 

(“Diesel Marketing”) 

 

GB Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 

(formally known as Ubay 

    Marketing Sdn. Bhd.) 

    (“GB Marketing”) 

  100     100 Trading and retailing in baby wear, 

care and related products through 

Heavy Traffic Outlets („ HTO‟), 

distributors  as  well as retailing boutique 

outlets.  

          
          Audrey Sdn. Bhd.                               Malaysia                                 
              (“AUSB”) 

 
 
 

               

            100          100 

 

Trading and retailing in lingerie and     

ladies wear, care and related 

products through HTO, distributors 

as well as retailing boutique outlets. 
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6. Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont‟d) 

Anakku Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 

(“AKSB”) 

    100     100 Trading and retailing in baby wear, 

care and related products through 

HTO, distributors as well as retailing 

boutique outlets.  

Asia Brands Global Malaysia 

Sdn. Bhd. (“ABG”) 

    100     100 Dormant. 

Antioni Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia     100     100 Dormant. 

(“Antioni”)  

 
Asia Brands Assets Malaysia     100     100  Dormant. 

Management Sdn. Bhd. 

(“ABAM”) 

 
Asia Brands HR 
Services Sdn. Bhd.  
(“ABHR”) 

Malaysia     100     100 Providing share services function 

including finance, human resources, IT, 

administrative and others. 

       

 
Bumcity Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia     100     100 Dormant. 

(“Bumcity”) 

 
Mickey Junior Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia     100     100 Dormant. 

(“MJSB”) 

 
Generasi Prestasi Sdn. Bhd. 

(“GPSB”) 

 

 

 

Generasi Global Gemilang 

Sdn. Bhd. (“GGGSB”) 

Malaysia 

 
 
 
 

 
         Malaysia 

             100 
 
 
 
 
 

                    51 

    100 
 
 
 
 
 
 51   

Trading and retailing in lingerie and     

ladies wear, baby and children wear,  

care and related products through HTO, 

distributors as well as retailing boutique 

outlets  

 
Trading and retailing in clothings.  

 

Baby Palace Sdn. Bhd. 
(“BPSB”) 

 
Malaysia 

 
      100 

 
     100 

 
Trading and retailing in baby wear, care and 

related products through HTO, distributors 

as well as retailing boutique outlets and 

providing sub-licensing services.  
     

Indirect Holding: 
 
Held through BPSB 

Astra Brands Sdn. Bhd. 

(“ABSB”) 

 
 

Malaysia 

 
 

100 

 
      
     100 

 

 

Wholesale distribution of apparel as well as 

trading and retail in household, hygiene, 

health or cosmetic products. 

  
  

Held through AUSB 

Generasi Dinasti Sdn. Bhd. 
(“GDSB”) 

 
       
      Malaysia                             

 
         
           100         

 
     
   100 

 
       
      Providing sub-licensing. 
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7. Intangible Assets  
 

Goodwill 

 
 

Trademarks 

 
 

Total 

 Group RM RM RM 

 
Cost 

   

 At 1 April 2021/31 March 2022/31 March 2023 36,068,397 131,000,000 167,068,397 

 
Accumulated impairment losses 

   

 At 1 April 2021/31 March 2022/31 March 2023 9,363,529 – 9,363,529 

 
Carrying amount 

   

 At 1 April 2021/31 March 2022 /31 March 2023 26,704,868 131,000,000 157,704,868 

 

(a) Description of material intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets represent the trademarks for the brands of “Anakku” and “Audrey” for the Group‟s specialised 

wear, care and related products through HTO that were acquired in business combinations. The useful lives of the 

trademarks are estimated to be indefinite because management believes there is no foreseeable limit to the period 

over which brands are expected to generate net cash inflow for the Group. 

 
(b) Impairment testing for cash-generating unit (“CGU”) containing goodwill and trademarks 

 
For purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and trademarks are allocated to the Group‟s operating divisions which 
represent the lowest CGU level within the Group at which the goodwill and trademarks are monitored for internal 

management purposes. 

 
The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks allocated to each CGU are as follows: 

 
 

  
Goodwill 

2023 

Trademarks 
 

Goodwill 

2022 

Trademarks 

RM RM RM RM 

Group 

Baby wear 

 
13,237,911 

 
113,000,000 

 
13,237,911 

 
113,000,000 

Lingerie wear 13,466,957 18,000,000 13,466,957 18,000,000 

 
26,704,868 131,000,000 26,704,868   131,000,000 
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7. Intangible Assets (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Impairment testing for cash-generating unit (“CGU”) containing goodwill and trademarks (Cont‟d) 

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations 

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs in respect of goodwill and trademarks were determined using the value in 

use approach. Cash flow projections used were based on financial budgets approved by the management covering 

a 20-year period (2022: 15-year period) for baby wear CGU and 10-year period (2022: 25-year period) for lingerie 

wear CGU. The constant growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows projections beyond 5-year period is 7% (2022: 

7%) for baby wear and 2.5% (2022: 2.5%) for lingerie wear and it does not exceed long-term average growth rate of 

the industry. Management believes that a forecast period greater than 5 years was justified due to the long-term 

nature of the baby and lingerie wear business. 

 
The key assumptions used for the value in use calculations are: 

Gross Margin  Growth Rate   Discount Rate 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 
Baby wear       55%   

    
52% to 

54%  
5.0% to 7.0%  5.0% to 7.0% 7.7% 8.0% 

 
Lingerie wear 

              
      70% 

 
68% 

 
             2.5% 

     
 2.5% to 15% 

 
6.0% 

 
7.3% 

 
(i) Budgeted gross margin 

 
The basis used to determine the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margins achieved in recent 

years immediately before the budgeted year and after incorporating the effects of merchandising improvement 

and new marketing strategies. 

 
(ii) Growth rate 

 
The basis used to determine the growth rate is the revenue growth achieved in recent years taking into account 
the increase in consumer spending as a result of merchandising improvement and new marketing strategies. 

 
(iii) Discount rate (pre-tax) 

 
Reflects risks specific to each CGU. 

 
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management‟s assessment of future trends in the cash-

generating units and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).  

 
Based on the impairment assessment performed by the Group, there is no impairment losses recognised for 

goodwill and trademarks during current financial year. 

 
A reasonable possible change in the key assumptions would not result in any impairment. 
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8. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) 

Recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 
  Assets  Liabilities  Net 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Group RM RM RM RM RM RM 

Plant and equipment – – (899,512) (864,256)    (899,512)    (864,256) 

Right-of-use assets – – (3,651,661) (2,469,362) (3,651,661) (2,469,362) 

Inventories 44,282           180,414 – –    44,282    180,414 

Trade receivables 110,797           110,797 – –    110,797    110,797 

Accruals 547,594           708,470 – –    547,594    708,470 

Lease liabilities 3,776,280        2,579,667 – – 3,776,280 2,579,667 

Unutilised tax losses 4,230,220        6,071,270 – – 4,230,220 6,071,270 

Tax assets/(liabilities)   8,709,173 9,650,618 (4,551,173) (3,333,618)  4,158,000  6,317,000 

Set off of tax (4,482,173) (3,303,618)      4,482,173                3,303,618 – – 

Net tax assets/ 
(liabilities) 

 
4,227,000 

 
     6,347,000 

 
(69,000) 

 
       (30,000) 

 
4,158,000 

 
6,317,000 

 
Movement in temporary differences during the year: 

 
  

At 1 April 

Recognised in 

profit or loss 
 

At 31 March 

Recognised in 

 profit or loss 
 

At 31 March 

 
Group 

2021 

RM 

(Note 23) 

RM 

2022 

RM 

(Note 23) 

RM 

2023 

RM 

Plant and equipment      (733,655)         (130,601)        (864,256)       (35,256)        (899,512) 

Right-of-use assets   (2,938,584)        469,222   (2,469,362)    (1,182,299)   (3,651,661) 

Inventories       189,846             (9,432)       180,414         (136,132)       44,282 

Trade receivables       216,736       (105,939)       110,797                    -       110,797 

Accruals       916,505       (208,035)       708,470       (160,876)       547,594 

Lease liabilities    3,029,451       (449,784)    2,579,667       1,196,613    3,776,280 

Unutilised tax losses    9,747,252     (3,675,982)    6,071,270     (1,841,050)    4,230,220 

 
  10,427,551        (4,110,551)      6,317,000       (2,159,000)      4,158,000 

 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

     

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross): 

   
Group 

  
Company 

 2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

Unutilised tax losses                                15,273,761          15,675,264 366,293 366,293 

Unabsorbed capital allowances      505,347      514,137 – – 

 
                              15,779,108          16,189,401 366,293 366,293 

 
            In accordance with the provision of Finance Act 2021, the time period for carrying forward unutilised tax losses has been 
            extended from seven (7) years to ten (10) years, for which, any excess at the end of the tenth (10th) year, will be       
            disregarded. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 
            taxable profit will be available against which the subsidiaries and the Company can utilise the benefits. 
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    8.      Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (Con‟d) 
 

             The expiry of the unutilised tax losses is as follows:   
   

Group 

  
Company 

 2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

Unrecognised unutilised tax losses 

Financial year 2028 

                               

                              15,166,828 

          

         15,553,447   

 

366,293 

 

366,293 
Financial year 2029 
Financial year 2030 
Financial year 2031 
Financial year 2032 
Financial year 2033 
 

     – 
– 

48,474 
53,369 
5,090 

     6,638 
4,814 

52,865 
57,500 

– 

– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

– 
– 
– 
– 
– 

 
                              15,273,761          15,675,264 366,293 366,293 

 

Recognised unutilised tax losses 

Financial year 2028 

                               

                              17,625,916 

          

         25,311,827   

 

– 

 

– 

 
 

9. Inventories   
 

Group 

  2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

 
Finished goods 74,513,071 53,397,674 

  
Recognised in profit or loss: 

  

 Inventories recognised as cost of sales 75,685,854 67,620,654 
 Inventories written down 693,721 1,122,878 

 Inventories written off 1,552,847 3,042,678 

. 

 
10. Trade Receivables 

 
  Group 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
Trade receivables 27,186,188 26,229,611 

 Less: Allowance for impairment losses (461,653) (461,653) 

  
26,724,535 25,767,958 

 

 
11. Other Receivables  

 
Group 

  
 
Company 

  2023 2022 

RM RM 

2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

 
Other receivables     18,572  13,381 – – 

 Deposits   4,412,405  4,123,448 1,500 1,500 
 Prepayments  272,101 103,666 – – 

  
  4,703,078  4,240,495 1,500     1,500 
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12. Amounts Due from/(to) Subsidiaries 
 

Company 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
Amount due from subsidiaries 

Non-trade related 

Non-interest bearing 5,108,508 5,863,729 

Less: Accumulated impairment losses (5,108,508) (5,863,217) 

     – 512 
 

 
Amount due to subsidiaries 

Non-trade related 

Non-interest bearing 5,882,800 7,219,602 

 
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. 

 
 

13. Cash and Bank Balances 

 
Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group amounting to RM 1,375,000 (2022: RM 144) is pledged as security 

for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in Notes 17 and 18.  

 
 

14. Share Capital 

 
Group and Company 

Number of Shares Amount 

 2023 2022 
 

2023 

RM 

2022 

RM 

Issued and fully paid shares with no par value classified 

as equity instruments: 

Ordinary shares At 1 April/31 March 

 

 
232,647,600 

 

 
  232,647,600 

 

 
198,278,656 

 

 
198,278,656 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote               

per share at meetings of the Company. 

 
 
   15.     Lease Liabilities 

                  Group 

2023 2022 

RM                        RM 
 

Non-current 

Lease liabilities 10,396,147          5,802,509 

 

Current 

Lease liabilities   5,338,356           4,946,104 

            Total lease liabilities                                  15,734,503         10,748,613 
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15.     Lease Liabilities (Cont‟d) 

 

         The movement of lease liabilities during the financial year is as follows: 

 
   

 

        
2023 

Group 

           2022 
 Note RM RM 

At 1 April 
Additions 
Modifications 
Interest expenses 
Covid-19 related rent concessions 
Payments of principal 
Payments of interest expense 
 

  
 
 

24 
24 

 

10,748,613 
8,989,445 
1,672,141 

693,922 
– 

(5,675,696) 
(693,922) 

12,622,712 
4,912,450 
(823,250) 

653,059 
(735,207) 

(5,228,092) 
(653,059) 

  At 31 March 
 

      15,734,503       10,748,613 

 

 

             The maturities of the lease liabilities as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

Group 

2023 2022 

RM                        RM 

 

Within 1 year 5,338,356           4,946,104 

More than 1 year but not later than 2 years 3,895,813          3,127,987 

More than 2 years but not later than 5 years  4,617,421           2,674,522 

More than 5 years  1,882,913               – 

  

                                                                               15,734,503        10,748,613 

 

 
16.     Hire Purchase Liabilities 

Group 

2023 2022 

RM                        RM 

             Minimum lease payments 

Within 1 year    149,580             116,676 

More than 1 year but not later than 2 years    128,960            116,676 

More than 2 years but not later than 5 years       22,862              101,748 

  

            Total minimum lease payments                                   301,402              335,100 

            Less: Amounts representing finance charges           (12,274)             (19,826) 

 

            Present value of minimum lease payments           289,128             315,274 

 
 

Present value of payments 

Within 1 year    140,756             105,547 

More than 1 year but not later than 2 years    125,651             110,151 

More than 2 years but not later than 5 years       22,721                99,576 

 

  

            Present value of minimum lease payments                289,128             315,274 

 

            Non-current               148,372             209,727 

            Current               140,756             105,547 

 

                 289,128             315,274 
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17. Islamic Medium Term Notes (“IMTN”) 

Group 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
Secured 

IMTN                - 20,000,000 

 
Non-current 

IMTN                -             10,000,000 

 
Current 

IMTN                - 10,000,000 

 
 

The IMTN bore a weighted average effective interest rate of Nil (2022: 5.30%) per annum at the end of the reporting 

period and are secured by: 

 
(a) a security trust deed; 

 
(b) corporate guarantee by the Company and AUSB; 

 
(c) a first party first ranking debenture on the assets of AKSB; 

 
(d) a third party first ranking debenture on the assets of AUSB; 

 
(e) a first party first ranking legal charge and assignment over the Finance Service Reserve Account of AKSB; 

 
(f)  a first party first ranking legal charge and assignment over the Disbursement Account of AKSB; 

(g) a first party legal assignment of Master Inter-Company Financing Agreement of AKSB; 

 
(h) memorandum of Deposit of Shares in relation to the following:- 

 
• 57,000,000 issued and fully paid up ordinary shares in the issued share capital of AKSB comprising 85% of the 

issued share capital of AKSB which are legally and beneficially owned by the Company; 
 

• 2,500,000 issued and fully paid up ordinary shares in the issued share capital of AUSB comprising 100% of the 
issued share capital of AUSB which are legally and beneficially owned by the Company; and 

 
(i) third party first ranking legal charge over a land of a company in which a Director has substantial interest and third 

party legal assignment over the insurance policies/takaful contracts in relation to the land. 

 
The IMTN contained the following financial covenants which the Group need to comply with: 

 
(i) Finance to Equity Ratio (“F:E Ratio”) shall not exceed 0.9 times; and 

 
(ii) Finance Service Cover Ratio (“FSCR”) of at least 1.5 times. 

 
                           AKSB has fully repaid the IMTN during the financial year. 

 
 18.       Term Loan 

Group 

2023 2022 

RM                        RM 

 

Current liabilities 1,250,000                          - 

Non-current liabilities 8,750,000                         - 

  

                                                                               10,000,000                         - 
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    18.    Term Loan (cont‟d) 

 
             The term loan bore interest rate at 5.90% (2022: Nil) per annum at the end of the reporting period and is repayable 
             by 8 equal quarterly instalments of RM1,250,000 each between 2024 and 2025. The term loan is secured by: 
 

(a) a charge over all cash deposits deposited or to be deposited from time to time by AKSB and income, yields, returns, 
profit, hibah, hadiyyah, dividend accruing thereon together with a Cash Deposit Agreement duly executed in the 
Bank's favour for all monies owing or payable under the facilities; 

 
(b) a charge over the Finance Service Reserve Account of AKSB; and 

 
(c) corporate guarantee by the Company. 

 
                           The term loan contained the following financial covenants which the Group need to comply with: 

 
(i) Leverage ratio of AKSB shall not exceed 2.50 times; and 

(ii) Leverage ratio of the Group shall not exceed 2.50 times. 

  
19.    Trade Payables 

 
Credit terms of trade payables of the Group ranging from 0 to 60 days (2022: 0 to 60 days) from date of invoice. 

 
Included in trade payables of the Group is an amount of RM1,009,297 (2022: RM1,303,023) due to a company controlled by 

close members of the family of a Director and an amount of RM246,337 (2022: RM75,936) due to subsidiaries of a 

company with significant influence over the Company. 
 

 

20.    Other Payables 

Group Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 

 
Other payables 2,472,709 1,827,859 7,012 6,837 

Related party                        2,515,785                           – – – 

Accruals 4,712,683 5,108,646 204,641 356,200 

Deposits received 425,577  387,083 – – 

  

                                                                                                                     10,126,754            7,323,588 211,653 363,037 
 

 
The related party is a company controlled by a Director of the Company. The amount due to a related party is unsecured, 

subject to interest at 7.34% (2022: Nil) per annum and repayable within 120 days (2022: Nil). 

 

 
21.     Bank Borrowings 

Group 

2023 2022 

RM RM 
Current 
Secured 

Bankers‟ acceptance 14,194,814 3,345,000 

 
The bankers‟ acceptance is secured by the following: 
 
(a)        negative pledge over certain subsidiaries‟ present and future assets; and 
 
(b)      corporate guarantee by the Company. 
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22.    Revenue 

Group Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 

 
Revenue from contracts with customers: 

Sales of goods  175,323,621  156,993,353 – – 

Commission income from consignment sales      9,230,708      5,237,020 – – 
 
Other revenue: 

                      Dividend income from subsidiaries      –   – 6,053,00 0   12,337,000 

 
                     Total Revenue     184,554,329 162,230,373 6,053,000 12,337,000 

 

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when the goods have been transferred to the customers and 

coincides with the delivery of products and acceptance by customer. The general credit terms granted to customers range 

from 0 to 90 days (2022: 0 to 90 days) 

 

23.    Taxation 

Group Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 
 

Current tax expenses: 

Current year 

Over provision in prior year 
 

Total current tax recognised in profit or loss                         1,936,319 1,055,753 – – 

 
Deferred tax expenses: 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary 

differences 

Over provision in prior year 
 

                         Total deferred tax recognised in profit or loss (Note 8)            2,159,000            4,110,551                         –                          – 

                                                                                                                    4,095,319             5,166,304                          –                          – 
 

 
Income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2022: 24%) of the estimated assessable profits for the financial year. 

 
A reconciliation of income tax expenses applicable to profit before tax at the statutory tax rate to income tax expenses at 

the effective tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows: 

 
  Group  Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 

Profit before tax       16,227,473 20,788,540 6,304,155 12,152,041 

 
At statutory tax rate of 24% 

 
3,894,594 

 
4,989,250 

 
1,512,997 

 
2,916,490 

Income not subject to tax (119,318) (85,896)    (1,633,850)  (3,024,660) 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  430,385 448,258 120,853 108,170 

Deferred tax assets not recognised during     

the financial year 1,222 15,182 – – 

Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously     

not recognised (99,692) (1,050)                                 – – 

Over provision of deferred tax in prior year                      –   (160,073) – – 

Over provision of current tax in prior year (11,872)              (39,367) – – 

 
4,095,319 5,166,304 – – 

– 

– 

– 

– 

      4,270,624 

       (160,073) 

 

      2,159,000 

                    – 

– 

– 

– 

– 

1,095,120 

        (39,367) 

 

1,948,191 

        (11,872) 
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24.    Profit for the Financial Year 

 

Profit for the financial year is determined after charging/(crediting): 
 

Group Company 

 2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

Auditors‟ remuneration 

- statutory audit 

 
152,000 

 
149,000 

 
39,000 

 
39,000 

- other services 48,800 50,800 9,500 9,500 

Bad debts written off 

- trade receivables 
 

            – 
 

  57,842 
 

– 
 

– 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,052,728 1,886,333 – – 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,893,369 6,213,036 – – 

Fair value gain on short term investments        (472,422) (96,734) – – 

Interest expense on: 

- Bankers‟ acceptance 
 

632,476 
 

348,545 
 

– 
 

– 

- Lease liabilities 693,922 653,059 – – 

- Hire purchase liabilities         14,686      15,732 – – 

- Islamic medium term notes 
- Term Loan 

  528,980 
  272,603 

1,442,886 
                – 

– – 

Inventories written down         693,721       1,122,878 – – 

Inventories written off       1,552,847       3,042,678 – – 

Plant and equipment written off        8,740        75,945 – – 

Royalty expense 
Bad debt recovered 

196,975 
 (8,790) 

493,345 
             – 

– 
– 

– 
– 

Realised gain on foreign exchange        (27,609)          (2,091) – – 

Interest income (44,321) (217,005) – – 

Reversal of impairment loss on: 

- Trade receivables 

- Amounts due from subsidiaries 

 
– 
– 

 
(441,414) 

– 

 
– 

(754,709) 
 

 
– 

(265,753) 
 

Expenses/(income) arising from leases 

Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note a) 

 
2,913,912 

 
2,528,551 

 
– 

 
– 

Expenses relating to variable leases payments 

not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 
 
      1,585,221 

 
         881,746 

 
– 

 
– 

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 
Gain on lease modification 

  (59,335) 
(12,496) 

–   
(33,751) 

– 
– 

– 
– 

Covid-19 related rent concessions     –     (735,207) – – 

 
Note a 

    

 
The Group leases retail stores with contract terms of 1 year or less. These leases are short-term. The Group has elected 
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.
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25.     Earnings per Share 

 
Basic earnings per ordinary share 

 
The basic earnings per ordinary share are calculated based on the consolidated profit for the financial year attributable to 

owners of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year as follows: 

 

Group 

 2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

Profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company 12,098,925 15,603,541 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 March 

 
232,647,600 

 
232,647,600 

 
Basic earnings per ordinary share (in sen) 

 
5.20 

 
6.71 

 
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 

  

 
The diluted earnings per ordinary share is the same as the basic earnings per ordinary share, as the Group has no dilutive 

potential ordinary shares during the current and prior financial years. 

 
 

26.    Employee Benefit Expenses 

 
Group Company 

2023 2022 2023 2022 

RM RM RM RM 

 
Salaries, wages and others 11,043,323   8,972,725 360,000 312,000 

EPF 1,218,053 1,101,253 – – 

12,261,376 10,073,978 360,000 132,000 
 

 
The employee benefits expenses including key management personnel are disclosed in Note 28(c).  

 
 

27.     Dividend 

 
             Dividends recognised by the Company: 

 

 
  
 

Sen per 
share 

Total 
Amount 
   RM 

Date of 

payment 

 

2023 

Final 2022 ordinary share 
Interim 2023 ordinary share 
 
 
 
2022 

Final 2021 ordinary share 

 
1.0 
1.0 

 
 
 
 

1.0 

 
2,326,476 
2,326,476 

 
4,652,952 

 
 

2,326,476 

 
      28 June 2022 

21 December 2022 
 
 
 
 

30 July 2021 

 

 

 
On 16 May 2023, the Board of Directors has approved a final single-tier dividend of 1 sen per ordinary share totalling 

RM2,326,476 for the financial year ended 31 March 2023. The final dividend was paid on 15 June 2023. The final dividend 

will be accounted for in the shareholders‟ equity as appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 March 

2024. 
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28.     Related Party Disclosures 

 
(a)     Identifying related parties 

 
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the 

Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the party or exercise significant influence 

over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and 

the party are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 

 
Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key 

management personnel comprise the Directors of the Company and certain members of senior management of the 

Group. 

 
 (b)    Significant related party transactions 

 
Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under negotiated terms. In 
addition to the related party balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the significant related party 
transactions of the Group and of the Company are as follows: 

Group 
2023 2022 

RM RM 
                                      Transactions with a company in which a   Director of the Company 

              has substantial financial interest       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    Rental of warehouse 420,480 420,480 

    Rental of office 155,880 155,880 

 
        Transactions with a company controlled by close members of the  family 

           of a Director   

 

              Purchase of goods                          5,877,267  9,063,517 

 
        Transactions with subsidiaries of a company with significant influence 

  

           over the Company 

             Purchase of goods 
   

    1,463,293 
 

666,637 

 
 

 
(c)   Compensation of key management personnel 

    

 
      The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 

    

  
2023 

Group  
2022 

 
2023 

Company 
2022 

 RM  RM RM RM 
 
       Directors of the Company 

    

       Executive:     

      Fees                –  48,000 – 48,000 
      Salaries and other emoluments     475,061 

     EPF                                                                            48,600                         

 93,556 
- 

– 
– 

– 
– 

      Benefits in kind      6,500  6,500 – – 

 
                                                                                                     530,161 

 
148,056 – 48,000 

       Non-Executive:     

       Fees    360,000  264,000 360,000 264,000 

 
                                                                                                     890,161 

 
412,056 360,000 312,000 

  
     Other Directors (on board of subsidiaries) 

    

      Executive:     

           Salaries and other emoluments                               599,622 487,848 – – 

            EPF                                                                              71,700                 58,320 – – 

 
               671,322 546,168 – – 

           Benefits in kind                  27,300 27,300 – – 

 
               698,622               573,468 – – 
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28.    Related Party Disclosures (Cont‟d) 

 (c)    Compensation of key management personnel (Cont‟d) 

          The key management personnel compensation is as follows (Cont‟d): 

                              

29.    Operating Segments 

 
(a) Operating segments information is not provided as the Group is principally engaged in wholesale, retail and 

distribution of ready-made casual wear, baby and children wear, lingerie and ladies wear and their related 

accessories which are substantially within a single business segment. 

 
(b) Geographical information: 

The Group operates predominantly in Malaysia. Accordingly, the information by geographical segments is not    
presented. 

 
(c) Major customer: 

There is no single customer that contributed 10% or more to the Group‟s revenue. 

 
30.    Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

 
  

 

 
At 1 April 

Net 

changes 

from 

financing 

cash flows 

 
 

 

Acquisition 

of new lease 

 
 
Covid-19 

    related rent 

    concessions     

 

 

 

Lease 

modification 

 
 
 

At 31 
March 

Group RM RM RM RM RM RM 

2023      

Amount due to 
    a related party                             – 

 
2,515,785 

 
– 

 
  – 

 
– 

 
2,515,785 

Lease liabilities               10,748,613 (5,675,696) 8,989,445 – 1,672,141 15,734,503 

Hire purchase liabilities       315,274 (251,146) 225,000 – – 289,128 

Islamic medium      

term notes 20,000,000 (20,000,000) – – – – 

Term loan               – 
Bankers‟ acceptance           3,345,000             

10,000,000 
10,849,814 

 

– 
– 

– 
– 

– 
– 

  10,000,000 
14,194,814 

 

 

 34,408,887 

 
(2,561,243) 

 
9,214,445 

 
– 

 
1,672,141 

 
42,734,230 

 
2022 

     

Amount due to      

a related party 2,720,360            (2,720,360) – – – – 

Lease liabilities 12,622,712            (5,228,092)               4,912,450 (735,207) (823,250) 10,748,613 

Hire purchase liabilities 416,219              (100,945)                     – – – 315,274 

Islamic medium      

term notes 30,000,000          (10,000,000) – – – 20,000,000 

Bankers‟ acceptance 12,843,000           (9,498,000) – – –   3,345,000 

 
     

 58,602,291        (27,547,397)               4,912,450 (735,207) (823,250) 34,408,887 
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30. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Cont‟d) 

 

  

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

At 1 April 
 

Net 

changes 

from 

financing 

cash flows 

 
 
  

    Other          
changes      At 31 March 

Company                                                                                           RM RM 

2023 

RM         RM                       RM 

          Amounts due to subsidiaries                                                     7,219,602 (867,808) (468,994)       5,882,800 

 
2022 

  

          Amounts due to subsidiaries                                                     7,254,191 (34,589) -    7,219,602 

 

 
31. Financial Instruments 

  

(a) Categories of financial instruments 

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as 
amortised cost ("AC"). 

  

  

                    Group 

 
Carrying 
amount 

 
AC 

                       

2023 

Financial Assets 

RM RM 

                    Trade receivables  26,724,535 26,724,535 

                    Other receivables  18,572 18,572 

                    Cash and bank balances  13,887,188 13,887,188 

 40,630,295 40,630,295 

 
Financial Liabilities 

  

                    Trade payables  (22,625,847) (22,625,847) 

                    Other payables  (9,701,177) (9,701,177) 

                    Term loan  (10,000,000) (10,000,000) 

                    Bank borrowings  (14,194,814) (14,194,814) 

 (56,521,838) (56,521,838) 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(a) Categories of financial instruments (Cont‟d) 

  

 Group  Carrying 
amount 

                 
                 AC 

  
2022 

 RM                   RM 

 Financial Assets    

 Trade receivables  25,767,958 25,767,958 
 Other receivables  13,381 13,381 
 Deposits with a licensed bank  540,470 540,470 

 Cash and bank balances  15,811,480 15,811,480 

  
 42,133,289 42,133,289 

  
Financial Liabilities 

   

 Trade payables  (15,225,078) (15,225,078) 
 Other payables  (6,936,505) (6,936,505) 
 Islamic medium term notes  (20,000,000) (20,000,000) 

 Bank borrowings  (3,345,000) (3,345,000) 

  
 (45,506,583) (45,506,583) 

  

 
Company 

  
Carrying 

amount 

 

 
AC 

  
2023 

 RM RM 

 Financial Assets    

 Cash and bank balances  166,702 166,702 

   
166,702 166,702 

 
Financial Liabilities 

   

 Other payables  (211,653) (211,653) 

 Amounts due to subsidiaries  (5,882,800) (5,882,800) 

   
(6,094,453) (6,094,453) 

  
2022 

Financial Assets 

   

 Amounts due from subsidiaries  512 512 

 Cash and bank balances  3,157 3,157 

   
3,669 3,669 

 
Financial Liabilities 

   

 Other payables  (363,037) (363,037) 

 Amounts due to subsidiaries  (7,219,602) (7,219,602) 

   
(7,582,639) (7,582,639) 
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31.     Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management 

 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments:- 

 
• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

 
(i) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises principally from the individual 

characteristics of each customer, short term investments and cash and cash equivalents. The Company's 

exposure to credit risk arises principally from financial guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to 

subsidiaries. There are no significant changes as compared to prior periods.  

 
Trade receivables 

 
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Credit evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount. Certain customers 

based on initial assessment are required to provide payment assurances such bank guarantees or transact on 

cash basis until creditability is established before credit is extended or provided.  

 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether any of the trade receivables are credit impaired. 

 
The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables are written off (either partially or fully) when 

there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 

debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 

amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables that are written off could still be subject to 

enforcement activities. 

 
There are no significant changes as compared to previous year. 

 
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are 

represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.  

 
Concentration of credit risk 

 
The Group‟s major concentration of credit risk related to the amounts owing by 5 customers (2022: 5 

customers) which constituted approximately 58% (2022: 66%) of its trade receivables as at the end of the 

reporting period. 
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 31.  Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(i) Credit risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Trade receivables (Cont‟d) 

 
Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 
In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Group manages its debtors and takes appropriate actions 

(including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue balances. Generally, trade receivables will pay 

within 30   to    90 days based on credit terms granted.  

 
The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables. 

 
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. The Group also considers 

differences between (a) economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, (b) 

current conditions and (c) the Group‟s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. 

Nevertheless, the Group believes that these factors are immaterial for the purpose of impairment calculation for 

the year.  

 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables. 

 
  

Gross 

amount 

Group 

        Loss 

allowance 

 

Net 

balance 

RM RM RM 

2023 

Current (not past due) 

 
13,920,612 

 
       (114,735) 

 
 13,805,877 

1-30 days past due 8,698,719    (93,170) 8,605,549 

31-60 days past due 3,129,098 (74,470) 3,054,628 

61-90 days past due 715,630 (38,140) 677,490 

More than 90 days past due 722,129 (141,138) 580,991 

 
27,186,188 (461,653) 26,724,535 

 
2022 

Current (not past due) 

 
 

13,497,694 

 
        

      (117,082) 

 
 

13,380,612 

1-30 days past due 8,567,919    (91,899) 8,476,020 

31-60 days past due 2,426,810 (79,063) 2,347,747 

61-90 days past due 1,316,792 (100,954) 1,215,838 

More than 90 days past due 420,396 (72,655) 347,741 

 
26,229,611 (461,653) 25,767,958 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(i) Credit risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Trade receivables (Cont‟d) 

 
Recognition and measurement of impairment loss (Cont’d) 

 
The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year are shown 
below. 

 
 Lifetime 

ECL 

Credit 

impaired 
 

Total 

RM RM RM 

Balance at 1 April 2021 903,067 – 903,067 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance                     (441,414)        – (441,414) 

Balance at 31 March 2022 / 1 April 2023 / 31 
March 2023 

461,653 – 461,653 

 
Short-term investments 

   

 
Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to 

or better than the Group. 

 
During the financial year, the Group has only invested in money market fund and average short term 

investment is approximately RM10,617,000 (2022: RM8,383,000). As at the end of the reporting period, the 

maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. 

 
There is no history of default on the money market fund and there are no indicators that this fund may default. 

The Group is of the view that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks. As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum 

exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. 

 
These banks have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank balances are insured by government 

agencies. Consequently, the Group and the Company are of the view that the loss allowance is not material 

and hence, it is not provided for. 

 
Financial guarantees 

 
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 
The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks and financial institutions in respect of credit 
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. The Company monitors the ability of the subsidiaries to service their 
loans on an individual basis. 

 
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM24,194,814 (2022: RM23,345,000) representing the 

outstanding credit facilities of the subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. 

. 

 
The financial guarantees are provided as credit enhancements to the subsidiaries‟ secured loan. 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(i) Credit risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Financial guarantees (Cont‟d) 

 
Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 
The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary‟s financial position 

deteriorates significantly. The Company considers a financial guarantee to be credit impaired when: 

 
• the subsidiary is unlikely to repay its credit obligation to the banks or financial institutions in full; or 

 
• the subsidiary is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders‟ fund. 

 
The Company determines the probability of default of the guaranteed loans individually using internal information 

available.  

 
Inter-company advances 

 
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 
The Company provides unsecured advances to its subsidiaries. The Company monitors the ability of the 

subsidiaries to repay the advances on an individual basis.  

 
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 

 
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying amounts in 

the statement of financial position. 

 
Advances provided are not secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit enhancements. 

 
Recognition and measurement of impairment loss 

 
Generally, the Company considers advances to its subsidiaries have low credit risk. The Company assumes 

that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary‟s financial position deteriorates significantly. 

As the Company is able to determine the timing of payments of the subsidiaries‟ advances when they are 

payables, the Company considers the advances to be in default when the subsidiaries are not able to pay 

when demanded. The Company considers a subsidiary‟s advance to be credit impaired when:  

 
• The subsidiary is unlikely to repay its advance to the Company in full; 

 
• The subsidiary‟s advance is overdue for more than 365 days; or 

 
• The subsidiary is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders‟ fund. 

 
The Company determines the probability of default for these advances individually using internal information 
available. 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(i) Credit risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Inter-company advances (Cont‟d) 

 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for subsidiaries‟ advances. 

 
 Gross 

carrying amount 

Impairment 

loss allowances 
 

Net balances 

Company RM RM RM 

2023 

Low credit risk 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– 

Credit impaired 5,108,508 (5,108,508) – 

 
5,108,508 (5,108,508) 512 

 
2022 

Low credit risk 

 

 
512 

 

 
– 

 

 
512 

Credit impaired 5,863,217 (5,863,217) – 

 
5,863,729 (5,863,217) 512 

 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of subsidiaries‟ advances during the year is as follows: 

 
Company 

2023 2022 

RM RM 

 
Lifetime ECL 

At 1 April 5,863,217 6,128,970 

Net  remeasurement of loss allowance                                                                        (754,709)            (265,753) 

At 31 March 5,108,508 5,863,217 
 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligation as they 

fall due. The Group‟s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from the mismatches of the maturities of 

financial assets and liabilities. 

 
The Group‟s funding requirement and liquidity risks are managed with the objectives of meeting business 

obligations on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through internally generated cash flows and 

minimizes liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available. 

 
Liquidity risk is managed on both the Group and entity basis. The primary objective of liquidity risk management 

is to ensure that the Group has sufficient access to funding, to support business activities and to meet 

contingencies. The Group uses several liquidity risk indicators/ratios for monitoring purposes. The management 

reviews the Group‟s liquidity ratios and deposit gathering activities regularly and maintain sufficient liquidity 

buffer as well as exploring alternative funding sources which would provide the Group with additional avenues 

to manage costs, volumes and maturities. 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Maturity analysis: The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group‟s and the Company‟s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based 

on undiscounted contractual payments. 
 

 

  
Carrying 

amount 

Contractual 

interest rate/ 

Discount rate 

 
Contractual 

cash flows 

     On demand 

         or within 

             1 year                           

 
1 to 

2 years 

 
2 to 

5 years 

 More 

than 

5 years 

Group 

2023 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

RM  RM RM RM RM RM 

Trade payables 22,625,847 – 22,625,847 22,625,847 – – – 

Other payables 9,701,177 – 9,701,177 9,701,177 – – – 

Lease liabilities 15,734,503 4.45%-5.20% 17,331,719 5,934,612 4,275,927 5,120,545 2,000,635 

Hire purchase liabilities 289,128 3.78%-4.35% 301,402 149,580 128,960 22,862 – 

Term Loan 
Bankers‟ acceptance 
  

10,000,000 
14,194,814 

5.90% 
4.92%-5.90% 

11,007,646 
14,194,814 

1,840,390 
14,194,814 

5,351,962 
– 

3,815,294 
– 

– 

 
72,545,469 

 
75,162,605 54,446,420 9,756,849 8,958,701 2,000,635 

 
2022 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

       

Trade payables 15,225,078 – 15,225,078 15,225,078 – – – 

Other payables 6,936,505 – 6,936,505 6,936,505 – – – 

Lease liabilities 10,748,613 4.45%-5.20% 11,448,177 5,348,827 3,328,909 2,770,441 – 

Hire purchase liabilities 315,274 4.24%-4.35% 335,100 116,676 116,676 101,748 – 

Islamic medium term notes 20,000,000 5.30% 21,736,471 11,128,296 10,608,175 – – 

Bankers‟ acceptance 3,345,000 3.59% 3,345,000 3,345,000 – – – 

 
56,570,470 

 
59,026,331 42,100,382 14,053,760 2,872,189 – 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d)  

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Maturity analysis (Cont’d) 

   
Carrying 

Contractual 

interest rate/ 

 
Contractual 

 On demand 
    or within 

  
 

Company 

amount 
RM 

Discount rate cash flows            
RM 

       1 year 
                RM 

 2023 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 

    

 Other payables 211,653 – 211,653 211,653 
 Amounts due to subsidiaries 5,882,800 – 5,882,800 5,882,800 

 Financial guarantees* – – 24,194,814 24,194,814 

  
6,094,453 

 
30,289,267 30,289,267 

  
2022 
Non-derivative financial liabilities 

    

 Other payables 363,037 – 363,037 363,037 
 Amounts due to subsidiaries 7,219,602 – 7,219,602 7,219,602 

 Financial guarantees* – – 23,345,000 23,345,000 

  
7,582,639 

 
30,927,639 30,927,639 

 

* Being corporate guarantees granted for credit facilities of certain subsidiaries which will only be 
encashed in the event of default by the subsidiaries. 

 
(iii) Market risks 

 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and other 
prices that will affect the Group‟s financial position or cash flows.  

 
(a) Currency risk 

 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales that are denominated in a currency other than 
the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 
U.S. Dollar ("USD").  

 
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is monitored closely on an ongoing basis to ensure the net exposure is at an 
acceptable level. 
 
Exposure to foreign currency risk 

 
The Group‟s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the functional currency of the Group 
entities) risk, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 
           Denominated in 

 USD 
RM 

 

Group   

2023 

Trade receivables 
 

  259,325 
 

 

 
2022 

Trade receivables 

 

 
123,557 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(iii) Market risks (Cont‟d)  

 
(a) Currency risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Currency risk sensitivity analysis 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group‟s profit before tax/equity to a reasonably 

possible change in the USD exchange rate against RM, with all other variables in particular interest 

rates, remained constant and ignores any impact of forecasted transactions. 

 
Effect on profit before tax/equity 

  
Group 

Change in currency rate 2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

USD Strengthened 5% 12,966          6,178 
 Weakened 5%                (12,966)        (6,178) 

 
(b) 

 
Interest rate risk 

   

 

The Group‟s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in 

market interest rates. The Group‟s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash 

flows due to changes in market interest rates. Short term investment is not significantly exposed to 

interest rate risk. 

 
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk 

 
The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by obtaining 

financing with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group constantly monitors its 

interest rate risk by reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourable rates are obtained. The Group 

does not utilize interest swap contracts or other derivative instruments for trading or speculative 

purposes. 

 
Exposure to interest rate risk 

 
The interest rate profile of the Group's significant interest-bearing financial instruments, based on 

carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

Group 

Floating rate instruments 

Financial Liabilities 

- Islamic medium term notes 

 
 

 
– 

 
 

 
(20,000,000) 

- Term loan 
- Bank borrowings 
 

(10,000,000) 
(14,194,814) 

– 
(3,345,000) 

 
(24,194,814) (23,345,000) 

 

Fixed rate instruments 

Financial Assets 
- Deposits with a licensed bank 
 
Financial Liabilities 

- Lease liabilities 

 
 
 

– 
 
 

(15,734,503) 

 
  
 

540,470 
 
 

(10,748,613) 

- Hire purchase liabilities (289,128) (315,274) 

 
(16,023,631)  (11,063,887) 

 
                                                                                                                                                           (16,023,631)       (10,523,417) 
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31. Financial Instruments (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Financial risk management (Cont‟d) 

 
(iii) Market risks (Cont‟d) 

 
(b) Interest rate risk (Cont‟d) 

 
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 

 
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

 
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss. Therefore, a change in market interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect 

profit or loss. 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments  

 
A change in 0.50% (2022: 0.50%) interest rate at the end of the reporting period would have 

increased/(decreased) the Group‟ profit before tax/equity by RM120,974 (2022: RM116,725) 

respectively, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate financial 

instruments. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The assumed movement in 

basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market 

environment. 

 
(c) Price risk 

 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate/profit yield risk or 

currency risk), regardless whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 

financial instruments or its issuer or factors affecting similar financial instruments traded in the market. 

 
The Group‟s price risk exposure relates to financial assets whose values will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market prices. 

 
The Group is exposed to price risk arising from investments in money market fund held by the Group. 
The Group‟s exposure to price risk is immaterial as all investments are invested in money market fund. 
Hence, sensitivity analysis is not presented. 

 
(c) Fair value information 

 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short term receivables and payables and short term borrowings 

reasonably approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments. 
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32.     Capital Management 

 
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to maintain an optimal capital structure 
so as to support their businesses and maximize shareholders‟ value. To achieve this objective, the Group may make 
adjustments to the capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions, such as adjusting the amount of dividend 
payment, returning of capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. 

 
The Group monitors capital using debt-to-equity ratio. The Group‟s policy is to maintain a prudent level of debt-to-equity 

ratio that complies with regulatory requirements. The debt-to-equity ratios at end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 
Group 

 2023 
RM 

2022 
RM 

 

Lease liabilities 

 
15,734,503 

 
10,748,613 

Hire purchase liabilities 289,128 315,274 

Islamic medium term notes – 20,000,000 

Term loan 
Bank borrowings 
 

10,000,000 
14,194,814 

– 
3,345,000 

 
40,218,445 34,408,887 

Less: Cash and bank balances 
          Deposits with a licensed bank 
 

(13,887,188) 

              – 

(15,811,480) 
(540,470) 

Net debt 26,331,257 18,056,937 

 
Total equity 

 
234,998,358 

 
227,519,156 

 
Debt-to-equity ratio 

 
11% 

 
8% 

 
There were no changes in the Group‟s approach to capital management during the financial year. 

  

 
The Group complies with Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirement to maintain a consolidated 

shareholders‟ equity (total equity attributable to owners of the Company) of more than 25% of the share capital (excluding 

treasury shares) of the Company and maintain such shareholders‟ equity at not less than RM40 million. 
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33.       Subsequent Event 

 

On 6 May 2023, the Group incorporated a private company limited by shares known as PT Anakku Jaya Indonesia, a 

company incorporated in Indonesia.  The issued and fully paid shares of PT Anakku Jaya Indonesia is IDR10,000,000,000 

(equivalent to RM3,000,000) comprising 10,000 ordinary shares which have been issued to AKSB and BPSB of 99% and 

1% respectively. The principal activity of PT Anakku Jaya Indonesia is trading in baby wear, care and related products 

through distributors. 

 

 
34.       Comparative Figures 

 

            Overstatement of Revenue and Cost of Sales 

 

 The financial statements for prior period have been retrospectively restated to adjust for the overstatement of revenue and 

 cost of sales due to commission income from third party concessionaire sales was accounted as revenue and cost of    

 sales. The effects of correction of error are disclosed below: 

 

  
As previously stated 

Prior year 
adjustment 

 
As  restated 

Group RM RM RM 

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022 
Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
 

Revenue 

 
 
 
 

170,127,210 

 
 
 
 

 (7,896,837) 

 
 
 
 

162,230,373 

Cost of sales (75,517,491) 7,896,837 (67,620,654) 

 
   

 The above adjustment does not have any impact on the earnings for ordinary shares of the Group
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Total Number of Issued Shares : 
Class of Shares : 

Voting Rights : 

232,647,600 

Ordinary Shares 
One vote per ordinary share 

 

 
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

 

 
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

NO. OF 
SHAREHOLDERS 

% OF 
SHAREHOLDERS 

NO. OF 
SHARES HELD 

% OF 
ISSUED CAPITAL 

1 - 99 403 32.74 12,563 0.01 

100 – 1,000 148 12.02 79,708 0.03 

1,001 - 10,000 490 39.81 2,005,408 0.86 
10,001 – 100,000 147 11.94 4,624,820 1.99 

100,001 –11,632,379* 40 3.25 53,711,459 23.09 

11,632,380 and above** 3 0.24 172,213,642 74.02 

TOTAL 1,231 100.00 232,647,600 100.00 

 
* Less than 5% of Issued Holdings 

    

** 5% and above of Issued Holdings     

 
DIRECTORS‟ SHAREHOLDINGS 

    

 

The Directors‟ shareholdings based on the Register of Directors‟ Shareholdings of the Company are as follows:- 

 
No. of shares beneficially held 

Name of Directors Nationality Direct % Indirect % 

Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh Malaysian 59,000 0.03 74,413,172^
 31.99 

Ng Chin Huat Malaysian 1,300,000 0.56 77,114,954#
 33.15 

Kong Sau Kian Malaysian – – – – 

Collin Tan Chin Yew Malaysian – – – – 
Lee Siok Yee 
Dato‟ Dr. Lim Weng Khuan 
David Tan Chin Wee 

Malaysian 
Malaysian 
Malaysian 

– 
– 
– 

– 
– 
– 

– 
– 
– 

– 
– 
– 

(Alternate Director to Dato’ Sri Tan Thian Poh)      

 

^ Indirect interest by virtue of his interest of more than 20% of the total voting shares in Trackland Sdn. Bhd. 
# Indirect interest by virtue of his interest of more than 20% of the total voting shares in Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd. 

 
 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

 

The substantial shareholders based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the Company and their shareholdings are as follows:- 

 
Nationality/ No. of shares beneficially held 

Name of Shareholders Incorporated in Direct % Indirect % 

Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 77,114,954 33.15 – – 

Ng Chin Huat Malaysian 1,300,000 0.56 77,114,954* 33.15 
Yap Su P‟ing Malaysian – – 77,114,954* 33.15 

Trackland Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 74,413,172 31.99 – – 
Dato‟ Sri Tan Thian Poh Malaysian 59,000 0.03 74,413,172^

 31.99 
Ng Tiong Seng Corporation Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 20,685,516 8.89 – – 

 

* Deemed interested by virtue of his/ her direct interest in Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd. via Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 
^ Deemed interested by virtue of his direct interest in Trackland Sdn. Bhd. via Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
as at 30 June 2023 
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LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS 

 
NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES HELD % 

1. Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 

pledged securities account for Everest Hectare Sdn. Bhd. 

77,114,954 33.15 

2. Trackland Sdn. Bhd. 74,413,172 31.99 

3. Ng Tiong Seng Corporation Sdn. Bhd. 20,685,516 8.89 

4. Pembinaan Teknikhas Sdn. Bhd. 11,560,000 4.97 

5. Choo Bay See 10,359,000 4.45 

6. Haba Entity Sdn. Bhd. 6,056,000 2.60 

7. Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 

CIMB for Soo Heng Chin (PB) 

3,600,000 1.55 

8. Regina Leong 2,602,699 1.12 

9. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd                                           
CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad for Affin Hwang Multi-Asset Fund 3 

2,500,000 1.07 

10. 

11. 

Ng Kien Ann 

Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd 
Rakuten Trade Sdn. Bhd. for Regina Leong 

2,000,000 

1,531,700 

0.86 

0.66 

12. Chang Wai Pong 1,424,000 0.61 

13. Hon Siew Chin 1,300,000 0.56 

14. Ng Chin Huat 1,300,000 0.56 

15. Ng Pooi Cheng 1,187,000 0.51 

16. Yap Fat                                            1,000,000 0.43 

17. Chong Chea Chea 907,600 0.39 

18. Lembaga Tabung Amanah Warisan Negeri Terengganu 683,000 0.29 

19. Teo  Kwee Hock 601,700 0.26 

20. Lee Yean Fung 600,000 0.26 

21. Wong Wai Kong 500,000 0.21 

22. Chiang Siew Eng @ Le Yu Ak Ee 329,800 0.14 

23. Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.  
Rakuten Trade Sdn. Bhd. for Kuan Geng Lin 

318,400 0.14 

24. Kok Tai Meng  
 

300,000 0.13 

25. 

26. 

Phang Wah Seng 

Looi  Boon Ping   
 

243,000 

241,500 

0.10 

0.10 

Analysis of Shareholdings (Cont‟d) 



107 

 

 

 
 

 
LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS (cont‟d) 

 
 
NO. 

 
NAME 

NO. OF SHARES 

BENEFICIALLY HELD 

 
% 

 

27. 

 

Chong Teck Seng  
 

 

215,600 

 

0.09 

28. MERCSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.  
pledged securities account for Ho Lih Meng 

210,000 0.09 

29. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
Law Kiung Siong 

200,000 0.09 

30. Qiu Kaihui 200,000 0.09 

 
 

  

Analysis of Shareholdings (Cont‟d) 



 

 

 
 
 
 

  
ASIA BRANDS BERHAD [Company No : 197501000740 (22414-V)] 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

PROXY FORM 
(Please refer to the notes below before completing this form) 

 
 

*I/We ............................................................................................................................. .........................................................................................................................  

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 

 
NRIC  /  Passport  /  Company  No.   ............................................................................................................................. ...................................................................... 

 
Of ............................................................................................................................. ............................................................................................................................. .. 

(FULL ADDRESS) 

being a member of ASIA BRANDS BERHAD (“Company”), hereby appoint: 
 

Full Name (In Block) NRIC/ Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares % 

Address   

         *and/ or failing *him/ her, 
 

Full Name (In Block) NRIC/ Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares % 

Address   

 

or failing *him/her, THE CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us and on *my/our 

behalf at the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at the Conference Room of the Company 

at Lot 10449, Jalan Nenas, Batu 4½, Kampung Jawa, 41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan on Friday, 8 September 2023 

at 9:00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof. 

 

My/ Our proxy(ies) is / are to vote as indicated below: 

ORDINARY BUSINESS Resolution FOR AGAINST 

Approval for payment of Directors‟ fees and benefits 1   

Re-election of Ng Chin Huat as Director 2   

Re-election of Dato‟ Dr Lim Weng Khuan as Director 3   

Re-election of Lee Siok Yee as Director 4   

Re-election of Collin Tan Chin Yew as Director 5   

Re-appointment of Messrs Reanda LLKG International as Auditors of the Company. 6   

Special Resolution 

Waiver of Pre-emptive rights 
7 

  

Ordinary Resolution 1 
Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to the Companies Act 2016. 

8 
  

Ordinary Resolution 2 
Proposed New Shareholders‟ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party  Transactions of 
a Revenue and/or Trading Nature 

9 
  

Ordinary Resolution 3 
Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders‟ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party  
Transactions of a Revenue and/or Trading Nature 

10 
  

Ordinary Resolution 4 
Proposed Renewal of Share buy Back Authority of up to 10% of the total 
number of issued shares of the Company 

 
11  

  

(Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your proxy to vote. If you do not indicate how you wish your proxy 

to vote on any resolution, the proxy shall vote as he/she thinks fit or, at his/her discretion.) 

 
Dated this ............... day of ..................................... 2023    
 

…………………………………………………………….  
Signature of Shareholder 

 
 
*Strike out whichever is not desired. (Unless otherwise instructed the proxy may vote as he thinks fit)

✄
 

Number of shares held  

CDS Account No.  

 



 

 

 
Affix 

Stamp 

Here 

Fold this flap for sealing 

Notes: 
 

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 30 August 2023 (“General 

Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this Meeting. 

 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of 

him. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at this Meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting. 

 

3. A member may appoint more than one (1) proxy to attend at the same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) 

proxy to attend and vote at the same meeting, such appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his 

shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. 

 

4. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depository) Act, 1991, it may appoint 

at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of 

the said securities account. 

 

5. Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depository) Act, 1991 which 

holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit 

to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds 

 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or 

if such appointor be a corporation, under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney of the corporation duly 

authorised. 

 

7. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any), under which it is signed or a notarially 

certified copy of that power of attorney or authority, shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Lot 10449, Jalan 

Nenas, Batu 4½, Kampung Jawa, 41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 

appointed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Then fold here 

 

 

 

 

ASIA BRANDS BERHAD 
[Company No : 197501000740 (22414-V)] 

 

Lot 10449, Jalan Nenas 

Batu 4½, Kampung Jawa 

41000 Klang, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
           1st fold here 
 
 



 

 

 


